# Sterile Neutrinos: An Introduction to Experiments

J.M. Conrad<sup>1</sup> and M.H. Shaevit $z^2$ 

<sup>1</sup>Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA <sup>2</sup>Columbia University, New York, NY

Abstract: This paper is written as one chapter in a collection of essays on neutrino physics for beginning graduate students. The text presents important experimental methods and issues for those interested in searches for sterile neutrinos. Other essays in the collection, written by other authors, will cover introduction to neutrinos in the Standard Model, a description of the theory, and discussion of details of detectors, thus these aspects are not covered here. However, beyond these points, this represents a self-contained tutorial on experimental studies of sterile neutrino oscillations, covering such issues as signals vs. limits, designing experiments, and performing and interpreting global fits to the oscillation data.

## Contents

1	Theoretical Models with Sterile Neutrinos	<b>2</b>
<b>2</b>	A Brief Tutorial on Signals	3
	2.1 Reviewing the Basics of the Two-neutrino Oscillation Example	3
	2.2 Two Examples of Results Interpreted Within the Two Neutrino Model	6
	2.3 Why Go Beyond a Three Neutrino Model?	9
	2.4 Introducing a Sterile Neutrino: the 3+1 Models	10
	2.5 $3+2$ and $3+3$	13
	2.6 Comparing experimental results in 3+1 models	15
	2.7 Matter effects	18
3	Existing sterile neutrino signals, hints, and limits	19
4	Global Data Fits	<b>26</b>
	4.1 Test Statistics for Global Fits	27
	4.1.1 The problem with the $\chi^2$ statistic for fitting	27
	4.1.2 The $\Delta \chi^2$ statistic for global fitting	28
	4.1.3 Anscombe's Quartet as a Cautionary Tale	30
	4.1.4 The Parameter Goodness of Fit	31
	4.2 Using Markov Chain Methods for Finding Global Fit Parameters	35
	4.3 Global Fit Results	38
5	Future Experiments and Requirements	40

## **1** Theoretical Models with Sterile Neutrinos

Neutrinos are unique in the standard model (SM) in that they interact solely through the weak interaction. As a consequence, in the SM, only the left-handed neutrino is active and part of a weak isospin doublet with its partner charged lepton. A question then arises as to whether right-handed neutrinos exist and if they do, how do they fit into the SM? In the SM, right-handed neutrinos, if they exist, would be weak isospin singlets with no weak interactions except through mixing with the left-handed neutrinos. For this reason, the right-handed neutrinos are referred to as "sterile" neutrinos.

In fact, the sterile neutrino is more broadly defined as a neutral lepton with no ordinary weak interactions except those induced by mixing. So, the right-handed neutrino is a prime example, although not the only case. Note, however, that sterile neutrinos can possibly interact through Yukawa couplings with the Higgs boson or through other new physics interactions beyond the SM. So it is not necessarily true that sterile neutrinos have no interactions at all.

Explaining in detail how sterile neutrinos arise in theories is beyond the scope of this chapter. Here, we briefly review the basic theoretical ideas before embarking on the experimental questions related to sterile neutrino searches, which is the primary goal of this text. Thus, this section is a bit technical, and students who are not already familiar with the theory of neutrino mass may wish to skip onward to the experimental discussion that follows. A useful tutorial on introducing neutrino mass appears in Ref. [1]. For those who want to learn more about the theory than is discussed here, a good detailed review appears in Ref. [2].

In the SM, neutrinos are massless, since a Dirac mass term would require the existence of right-handed neutrinos. On the other hand, neutrino oscillations, which have been unambiguously observed [3], require that the active neutrinos must have mass. Generating a non-zero neutrino mass can be accomplished by adding a mass-term to the SM Lagrangian. A Dirac mass-term similar to the charged fermion terms requires the existence of right-handed neutrinos. Then, a term with a right-handed neutrino combined with a left-handed neutrino and a SM Higgs field would produce a Dirac mass. To produce such a Dirac mass for the neutrino below the current upper limit from tritium decay studies of 2 eV [3] would require a Yukawa coupling of order  $10^{-12}$ , which would be very much smaller than of the other couplings. Explanation of these small couplings has led to theoretical models where the neutrino mass terms involve higher dimensional operators, non-perturbative effects or warped extra dimensions [2].

If neutrinos are Majorana particles, where the neutrino and antineutrino are the same particle species, then a Majorana mass terms is also possible. Such a Majorana term would violate lepton number by two units bringing in the possibility of neutrino to antineutrino transitions. A Majorana term for a left-handed neutrino couples the left-handed neutrino with its conjugate and a Higgs triplet state, since such a transition would violate weak isospin by one unit. Instead of coupling to a Higgs triplet state, a Majorana term could also be constructed of higher-dimensioned terms involving a coupling of the left-handed neutrino to two Higgs doublets. Finally, the right-handed neutrino can also have a Majorana mass term where the neutrino couples with its conjugate since, as a singlet, this term does not violate weak isospin.

The combination of Dirac and Majorana mass terms for neutrinos can lead to an inter-

esting scenario where the diagonalization of the mass matrix leads to active neutrinos with small masses of  $(m_{Dirac})^2/M_{heavy}$  and also a heavier sterile neutrinos that mix with the active neutrinos. This is referred to as the See-Saw Mechanism and may be the explanation for why neutrino masses are so small relative to the other fermions that have masses on the order of  $m_{Dirac}$ . On the other hand, the sterile neutrinos that are most naturally suggested by the See-Saw Mechanism are very heavy compared to all known particles. Nevertheless, light sterile neutrinos are a possibility within many models using the See-Saw framework [2].

These theoretical speculations about the existence of sterile neutrinos and how they might impact neutrino masses and mixing are key areas currently being investigated in particle physics. The experimental discovery of sterile neutrinos and their properties would have a major impact on these speculations and would likely lead to insights as to how to add them to the standard model. In addition, sterile neutrinos can have a major impact on interpreting other neutrino measurements such as the search for CP violation in long baseline experiments [4] and modeling of neutrino production in core-collapse supernovae [5].

# 2 A Brief Tutorial on Signals

Before discussing sterile neutrino oscillation signals, it is useful to review how oscillation results are presented. We will consider this within a generic oscillation model between two flavors of neutrinos  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . Then we will expand on this to discuss signals with three active flavors and one or more sterile neutrinos.

#### 2.1 Reviewing the Basics of the Two-neutrino Oscillation Example

In a two neutrino oscillation model, the flavor eigenstates ( $\alpha/\beta$  subscripts) can be written as a function of the mass eigenstates (1/2 subscripts) as:

$$\nu_{\alpha} = \cos\theta \ \nu_1 + \sin\theta \ \nu_2$$
$$\nu_{\beta} = -\sin\theta \ \nu_1 + \cos\theta \ \nu_2$$

where  $\theta$  is the "mixing angle." The implication of mixing is that a pure flavor (weak) eigenstate born through a weak decay can oscillate into the other flavor as the state propagates in space. This oscillation is due to the fact that each of the mass eigenstate components propagates with a different frequency, assuming the masses are different,  $\Delta m^2 = |m_2^2 - m_1^2| > 0$ . Using quantum mechanics, one can calculate the two-neutrino oscillation probability for  $\nu_{\alpha} \rightarrow \nu_{\beta}$  as:

$$\operatorname{Prob}\left(\nu_{\mu} \to \nu_{e}\right) = \sin^{2} 2\theta \, \sin^{2} \left(\frac{1.27 \, \Delta m^{2} \left(\mathrm{eV}^{2}\right) \, L \left(\mathrm{km}\right)}{E \left(\mathrm{GeV}\right)}\right). \tag{1}$$

In this equation, L is the distance from the source, and E is the neutrino energy. Examining this equation, one can see that the oscillation wavelength will depend upon L, E, and  $\Delta m^2$ . The amplitude will depend upon  $\sin^2 2\theta$ .

Looking at Eq. 1, one can see that the designer of an experiment would like to arrange for  $1.27\Delta m^2 L/E = \pi/2$  because this maximizes the oscillation probability. The L/E value that maximizes this probability,  $L/E = \pi/(2.54\Delta m^2)$ , is called the "oscillation maximum" value. Of course, the probability function has a number of maxima but the first one usually dominates and others can be partially washed out due to energy and position smearing.

However, when one is searching for new physics, one does not necessarily know the exact  $\Delta m^2$  of interest. Thus there is some art associated choosing the detector location and the beam energy. The experiment must be designed with a relatively large value of the ratio L/E in order to enhance the  $\sin^2(1.27\Delta m^2 L/E)$  term. However if L/E is too large in comparison to  $\Delta m^2$ , then oscillations occur rapidly. Because experiments have finite resolution on L and E, and a spread in beam energies, the  $\sin^2(1.27\Delta m^2 L/E)$  term averages to 1/2 when  $\Delta m^2 \gg L/E$  and one loses sensitivity to  $\Delta m^2$ . Lastly, since the oscillation probability is directly proportional to  $\sin^2 2\theta$ , if the mixing angle is likely to be small, then a design that results in high statistics is required to observe the tiny oscillation signal.

There are two types of oscillation searches: "disappearance" and "appearance." Consider a pure source of neutrinos of type  $\alpha$ . In a disappearance experiment, one looks for a deficit in the expected flux of  $\nu_{\alpha}$  at a detector located downstream from the source, hence later in time. Another way to say this, is "if it started as a  $\nu_{\alpha}$ , did the neutrino stay a  $\nu_{\alpha}$ ?" and thus, it is denoted as  $\nu_{\alpha} \rightarrow \nu_{\alpha}$ . On the other hand, appearance experiments search for one flavor turning into the other flavor,  $\nu_{\alpha} \rightarrow \nu_{\beta}$ , by directly observing interactions of neutrinos of type  $\beta$ . In either case, the signal for oscillations will be most persuasive if the deficit or excess has the (L/E) dependence predicted by the neutrino oscillation formula (equation 1).

Now consider how the results of neutrino oscillations can be presented. In this twoneutrino model, which was the first model for oscillations that was developed, there are two theoretical parameters ( $\Delta m^2$  and the mixing angle) and so the results are traditionally shown on the plane of  $\Delta m^2 vs. \sin^2 2\theta$ . Let's say that a hypothetical, perfect (no systematic error) two-neutrino oscillation experiment sees no oscillation signal, based on N expected events without oscillations. The experimenters can rule out the probability for oscillations (either appearance or disappearance) within some error or confidence level (CL). A typical choice of confidence level is 90% CL, so in this case of statistical-uncertainty-only, the approximate limiting probability is  $P < 1.28\sqrt{N/N}$ . The 1.28 factor corresponds to a one-sided Gaussian probability for the expected N value to have an upward fluctuation at the 10% probability level. More rigorous methods for setting CL regions will be described later with respect to global fitting techniques. There is only one measurement and there are two unknowns, so this translates to an excluded region within  $\Delta m^2 - \sin^2 2\theta$  space. This is indicated by a solid line, with the excluded region on the right. At high  $\Delta m^2$ , the limit on  $\sin^2 2\theta$  is given by twice the above P value, since  $\langle \sin^2(1.27\Delta m^2 L/E) \rangle$  averages to 1/2. The L and E of the experiment drive the low  $\Delta m^2$  limit, and this only improves by the fourth root of the statistics associated with N. Thus to improve reach in the mixing angle, the designer must increase the total number of events, while to improve the reach in low  $\Delta m^2$ , the designer should focus on adjusting the L/E ratio.

If an appearance experiment measures an excess of  $\nu_{\beta}$  events,  $N_{excess}$ , with some uncertainty,  $\delta N_{excess}$ , in a  $\nu_{\alpha} \rightarrow \nu_{\beta}$  search, then the experiment can claim a signal if the excess is greater than its uncertainty. (This is also true for a disappearance signal where a significant deficit in events,  $N_{deficit}$ , observed.) This observed signal can be converted into an average oscillation probability using the number of fully transmuted  $\nu_{\alpha}$  events,  $N_{fulltrans}$ .  $N_{fulltrans}$  is the number of  $\nu_{\beta}$  events that would be observed in the experiment if all of the  $\nu_{\alpha}$  neutrinos changed into  $\nu_{\beta}$  neutrinos. To calculate  $N_{fulltrans}$ , one has to take the flux of  $\nu_{\alpha}$  neutrinos into the experiment and have them interact with the  $\nu_{\beta}$  cross section and detection efficiency. The average oscillation probability is then given by  $P \pm \delta P = N_{excess}/N_{fulltrans} \pm \delta N_{excess}/N_{fulltrans}$ . This type of average oscillation probability is often given as a measure of an experiment's signal with a significance of  $N\sigma$  where  $N = P/\delta P$ .

In reality, imperfections of an experiment affect the limits which can be set. Background sources may introduce  $\nu_{\beta}$  into the  $\nu_{\alpha}$  beam. Misidentification of the interacting neutrino flavor in the detector may mimic oscillation signatures. In addition, systematic uncertainties in the relative acceptance versus distance and energy must be understood and included in the analysis of the data. These systematics are included in the 90% CL excluded regions presented by the experiments.

Excluded and allowed regions are determined using a test statistic that depends on the likelihood for obtaining a given data set depending on the assumed oscillation parameters. One then determines the allowed oscillation parameter space where the likelihood is greater than the desired CL. Since the oscillation probability in Eq. 1 is non-linear in the oscillation parameters, determining the critical value for the test statistic at a given CL usually requires assumptions and studies of simulated data samples.

A common example of a test statistic for a  $\Delta m^2 vs. \sin^2 2\theta$  point is the  $\Delta \chi^2 = \chi^2_{\Delta m^2/\sin^2 2\theta} - \chi^2_{BestFit}$ . This statistic can be shown in a simple Gaussian error case to follow a  $\chi^2$  distribution with the degrees of freedom (dof) equal to the number of fit parameters, which for this case would be 2 corresponding to  $\Delta m^2$  and  $\sin^2 2\theta$ . In reality due to the non-linear nature of the oscillation probability, the limiting value of  $\Delta \chi^2$  for a given CL needs to be determined using simulated data sets. For example, at high  $\Delta m^2$ , the value of  $\Delta m^2$  does not affect the oscillation probability and, in this region, the  $\Delta \chi^2$  test statistic will follow a  $\chi^2$  distribution with 1 dof.

The "sensitivity" of an experiment is defined as the average expected limit if the experiment were performed many times with no true signal (only background). This leads to an important complication. When the actual background is low compared to prediction there can be a significant difference between the limit and the experimental sensitivity. In some cases, this is due to statistical fluctuation of the background. In this case, the experiment just "got lucky" and the limit represents the true confidence level. On the other hand, if the true background is due to a systematic effect that leads to an over-prediction, then the extracted limit is not representative of the true space explored. To address this concern, in an influential paper on statistics for oscillation experiments, Feldman and Cousins [6] suggested that when an experiment sets a significantly better limit than the sensitivity, the experiment should also indicate the sensitivity on the plot. This allows readers to draw conclusions based upon their own opinion of what is acceptable. An improved approach was recently introduced by the LHC experiments for their electroweak and Higgs searches. A band is defined around the line indicating the sensitivity that encompasses a given percentage, for example 90%, of the simulations with no true signal. One would then expect the result of an experiment to largely lie within this band, at 90% CL. The result may cross from one side to the other side of the band, and may even depart from the band, for some best fit parameters. But overall, the result should be consistent with the band. A result that lies significantly outside of the band, beyond the expectation for the stated confidence level of the band, indicates either a problematic null result or a signal.



Figure 1: Two examples of results from oscillation experiments. Left: The LSND allowed region for  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  appearance. The shaded regions indicate 90% (blue) and 99% (grey) CL allowed regions [7]. Right: The SciBooNE/MiniBooNE 90% CL limit for  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$ disappearance [8]. The region to the right of the solid line is excluded. The shaded area indicates the region where 68% of experiments with no observed signal are predicted to lie, and the sensitivity of the experiment is defined to be the center of the shaded band.

We emphasize that limits are not "hard cut-offs." There is some probability that there is a solution outside of the line defined by the limit. However, that signal will have lower confidence level than the confidence level of the cut-off. This will be an important point below, when we compare results from multiple experiments.

### 2.2 Two Examples of Results Interpreted Within the Two Neutrino Model

The above discussion was fairly abstract, so let's now consider two real cases of results from oscillation experiments. The first is an experiment searching for a  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  appearance signal, LSND (the Liquid Scintillator Neutrino Detector) [7]. The second is a pair of detectors, SciBooNE and MiniBooNE, used to search for a disappearance signal of muon antineutrinos,  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  [8]. The two results are shown in Fig. 1, and are among a large set of experiments we will discuss.

The LSND  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  appearance result was the first of a set of unexpected signals observed at  $\Delta m^{2} \sim 1 \text{ eV}^{2}$ , and has a significance of  $3.8\sigma$ . This experiment ran at the Los Alamos LAMPF accelerator National Laboratory from 1993 and 1998. The decay-at-rest (DAR) beam was produced by impinging 800 MeV protons on a beam dump, resulting in  $\pi^{+}$ s



Figure 2: The LSND excess [7], indicating possible  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  appearance. The data points have statistical and systematic error added in quadrature. The signal is not background subtracted. The red and green histograms indicate the background from intrinsic  $\bar{\nu}_{e}$  in the beam and from other sources, respectively. The blue histogram is an example of a potential  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  signal that, when added to the predicted backgrounds, is representative of the data. This potential signal corresponds to one point in the allowed region in  $\Delta m^{2}$  and  $\sin^{2} 2\theta$ .

which stop and decay to produce  $\mu^+$ s, which, in turn, stop and decay to produce  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  and  $\nu_e$ . Because the  $\pi^-$ s produced in the dump capture, the beam has a  $< 8 \times 10^{-4}$  contamination of  $\bar{\nu}_e$ . The resulting neutrinos were observed in a detector located 30 m downstream of the beam dump. Events with neutrino energies between 20 and 52 MeV were used in the analysis. In the detector, 1220 phototubes surrounded a cylindrical detector that was filled with 167 tons of mineral oil, lightly doped with scintillator. The signature of  $\bar{\nu}_e$  appearance was  $\bar{\nu}_e + p \rightarrow e^+ + n$ , a process called "inverse beta decay." This resulted in a two-component signature in the detector: 1) the initial Cherenkov and scintillation light associated with the  $e^+$  and 2) the later scintillation light from the *n* capture on hydrogen which produces a 2.2 MeV  $\gamma$ . The experiment observed 87.9  $\pm$  22.4  $\pm$  6.0 events [7] above expectation. A plot of the data, shown with a stacked plot of background (green and red) and fitted signal (blue), is shown in Fig. 2.

For LSND, the ratio of the distance to the detector to the beam energy, L/E, is approx-

imately 0.8 m/MeV. Thus, from the two-generation oscillation formula, Eq. 1, one can see that this experiment is approximately sensitive to  $\Delta m^2 \geq 0.1 \text{ eV}^2$  (this is also seen in Fig. 1). The oscillation probability measured by LSND for the excess was  $(2.64 \pm 0.67 \pm 0.45) \times 10^{-3}$ . The resulting allowed regions are shown in Fig. 1, left. This plot shows "allowed regions," which are fully enclosed contours, at 90% and 99% CL. Below about 1 eV<sup>2</sup> one can see an extended contour that has the typical slope of -0.5 on the log-log plot corresponding to the region where the oscillatory sine factor that depends on  $\Delta m^2$  in Eq. 1 has a small argument. This is the range where the experiment is sensitive to the small oscillation probabilities before the first oscillation maximum. The small  $\Delta m^2$  limit at  $\sin^2 2\theta = 1.0$  is given by

$$\Delta m^2 = \frac{\sqrt{Prob}}{1.27L/E},\tag{2}$$

which for the above LSND probability gives  $0.05 \text{ eV}^2$ . Above  $1 \text{ eV}^2$ , one sees that the LSND result forms islands and exclusion regions because of the oscillatory behavior associated with Eq. 1. At high  $\Delta m^2$ , one reaches the region of rapid oscillations where the oscillatory factor averages to a 0.5. The pattern of this LSND allowed region is typical for a single detector experiment combined with a neutrino source that has a small energy spread.

While LSND was a single detector experiment with an allowed region, the SciBooNE/MiniBooNE  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  shown in Fig. 1, right, shows typical features of a two-detector experiment where the result is an exclusion. The two-detector design is often used in cases where the flux is rather poorly predicted, which is often the case for decay-in-flight (DIF) beams. To produce DIF beams, accelerated proton are directed onto a target where pions and kaons are produced. The charged pions and kaons are focused magnetically into a gas- or vacuum-filled decay pipe where the mesons decay into muons and muon neutrinos. Generally, this type of beam is mainly composed of muon neutrinos with a small contamination (0.5% to few a few percent) of electron neutrinos from muon and kaon decay.

The SciBooNE experiment has a 10.6 ton, scintillator-strip neutrino detector located 100 m from the primary proton target that produced the beam. The fine segmentation allowed the position of the neutrino interaction vertex to be well identified. Located at 540 m from the proton target was a second detector, the 800 ton MiniBooNE mineral-oil based neutrino detector. In the case of MiniBooNE, events were detected using mainly Cherenkov light associated with the outgoing particles, since the oil was undoped with scintillator. The Cherenkov light formed rings on the 1280 photomultiplier tubes around the periphery of the spherical detector. The amount of light and Cherenkov ring geometry were used to measure the particle energies and direction as well as the particle type: muon, pion, or electron. The combination of MiniBooNE with SciBooNE allows a much more precise search for neutrino disappearance than MiniBooNE could perform independently, since the neutrino flux and energy distribution can be measured in the near SciBooNE detector before oscillations occur. Many systematic uncertainties associated with the neutrino flux and interaction cross sections are reduced or eliminated by comparing a near and far detector. Detector effects are most reduced if the two detectors use the identical detection technology; however this was not the case for the SciBooNE/MiniBooNE experiment. For practical reasons, it is often true that the near and far detectors are constructed with different technologies.

Fig. 1, right, shows the results for the SciBooNE/MiniBooNE  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  disappearance search. The near and far detectors saw consistent results, so no sign of oscillations was detected.



Figure 3: Commonly used illustration of four mass states and their relationship to four flavor components.

The experimental result is, therefore, a limit at 90% CL as shown in the figure. Oscillations are excluded in the region to the right of the black line. This differs from the LSND example in that there is no fully enclosed space within the parameters, which is to say that the null result, which is off the plot to the left, is allowed. The band in this figure is indicating the expectation if one runs many experiments, as discussed above. This band encompasses 90% of the limits obtained from a collection of simulated data runs. The average of these experimental results, along the center of the band, is the sensitivity (not explicitly shown in this plot). The obtained limit is consistent with the estimated sensitivity and shows classic expected behavior: most of the limit is contained within the band, with several crossings of the sensitivity, depending on the parameter values. Within the statistics, one expects the limit to exit the band for a few parameter values, and this is observed.

For  $\Delta m^2 < 1 \text{ eV}^2$ , the MiniBooNE/SciBooNE limit curve shows the same characteristics as seen in the LSND result. For this measurement, the disappearance probability limit is at about the 5% level, which would predict a  $\Delta m^2 = 0.22 \text{ eV}^2$  at  $\sin^2 2\theta = 1.0$ . Above  $\Delta m^2 = 1$ eV<sup>2</sup>, the limit shows a complicated curve associated with the oscillatory behavior of Eq. 1 for detectors at two different L values and with uncorrelated statistical fluctuations. At high  $\Delta m^2$ , in this case above 20 eV<sup>2</sup>, there are rapid oscillations in both the near and far detector and the sensitivity grows worse with higher  $\Delta m^2$  since the two detector comparison no longer helps. On the other hand, limits can still be set in this region since the absolute neutrino flux is known to some accuracy from the beam and cross section modeling, it is just that the limit is less stringent due to the larger systematic error.

#### 2.3 Why Go Beyond a Three Neutrino Model?

The LSND result shown in Fig. 1, left, is consistent with oscillations with  $\Delta m^2 \gtrsim 0.1 \text{ eV}^2$ . This is substantially larger than the  $\Delta m^2$  values that have been measured for the "solar" and "atmospheric" oscillations:  $\Delta m^2_{solar} = 7.5 \times 10^{-5} \text{eV}^2$  and  $\Delta m^2_{amtmos} = 2.3 \times 10^{-3} \text{eV}^2$  [9]. These latter are two well-established signals, with significance much higher than  $5\sigma$ , observed in many experiments, and celebrated with the 2015 Nobel Prize in physics. As we discuss in this section, the solar and atmospheric oscillations are consistent with a model of three neutrinos. We show here that a three neutrino model cannot explain a third  $\Delta m^2$  value. As a result, LSND, and other experiment that show oscillations with  $\Delta m^2 \sim 1 \text{ eV}^2$  are said to have "anomalous results."

Let's begin by considering only the solar an atmospheric oscillation results. A model that incorporates two distinct solar and atmospheric  $\Delta m^2$  is consistent with three neutrinos, with mixing between the mass and flavor eigenstates given by:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \nu_e \\ \nu_\mu \\ \nu_\tau \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} U_{e1} & U_{e2} & U_{e3} \\ U_{\mu 1} & U_{\mu 2} & U_{\mu 3} \\ U_{\tau 1} & U_{\tau 2} & U_{\tau 3} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \nu_1 \\ \nu_2 \\ \nu_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The oscillation probability is then:

$$\operatorname{Prob}\left(\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\beta}\right) = \delta_{\alpha\beta} - 4\sum_{j>i} U_{\alpha i} U_{\beta i} U_{\alpha j}^{*} U_{\beta j}^{*} \sin^{2}\left(\frac{1.27 \,\Delta m_{ij}^{2} L}{E}\right)$$
(3)

where  $\Delta m_{ij}^2 = |m_i^2 - m_j^2|$ . Note that there are three different  $\Delta m^2$  values, but only two are independent. In this model,  $\Delta m_{12}^2 + \Delta m_{23}^2 = \Delta m_{13}^2$ . Thus the LSND result cannot be introduced into this model.

This was a slightly simplistic argument. The more general case allows the atmospheric result to be due to a mixture of high (LSND-range) and low (solar-range)  $\Delta m^2$  values. But global fits have shown that this model disagrees with several data sets [10]. So this is ruled out.

#### 2.4 Introducing a Sterile Neutrino: the 3+1 Models

As a result, one is forced to introduce new physics if one accepts that LSND, and the other consistent, but less significant, anomalies that we will discuss in Sec. 3, are due to oscillations. The simplest next step is to introduce one additional neutrino mass state, connected to one additional flavor state through the unitary mixing matrix:

$$U_{3+1} = \begin{bmatrix} U_{e1} & U_{e2} & U_{e3} & U_{e4} \\ \vdots & \vdots & U_{\mu4} \\ \vdots & \vdots & U_{\tau4} \\ U_{s1} & U_{s2} & U_{s3} & U_{s4} \end{bmatrix},$$
(4)

where the new flavor is denoted with "s" in the matrix. This explicitly allows the new flavor to mix with the three known neutrino flavors, and thereby be produced in neutrino oscillations. Fig. 3, left, shows a common illustration of the four mass states (bars) divided up into their four flavor components (colors). Because there are three states that are relatively similar in mass in this model and one mass state that is larger, this is called a 3+1 model.

Introducing a new neutrino flavor into the theory has important consequences outside of oscillation studies. First, the precise measurements of the  $Z^0$  width [3] made at LEP and SLD, determined that there are only three families of light-mass, weakly-interacting neutrinos. Hence, the additional neutrino, if it is lighter than half the mass of the Z, must not interact via the exchange of W or Z bosons, and is, therefore, sterile. Second, we must address the fact that sterile neutrinos would be produced in the early universe through oscillations, thus affecting cosmological fits. Cosmological results are still not precise enough to make strong statements, although recent cosmological fits allow for a single non-interacting sterile neutrino [11]. However, it is also possible that, while sterile neutrinos may not interact weakly, they could have interactions through some new weaker-than-weak interactions that are yet to be observed. In such models, the sterile neutrinos may not thermalize in the early universe, and so cosmological measurements will be insensitive to a sterile neutrino signal [2]. Third, the addition of the fourth mass state will affect  $\beta$  decay. A few-eV sterile neutrino will produce a kink in the  $\beta$  decay electron spectrum, since the electron flavor state will have a small admixture associated with the high mass sterile state. The upcoming KATRIN experiment could see a kink in the spectrum for masses greater than a few eV and mixings at the 0.1 level [12]. Higher mass sterile neutrinos in the keV mass range can also affect the  $\beta$ decay spectrum away from the endpoint and sensitivity to small mixings in the keV spectral range may also be possible [13]. Recent astrophysical measurements have shown hints of keV mass objects leading to renewed interest in these higher mass sterile neutrinos [14].

In this discussion, we will focus on neutrino oscillations. This is the most immediately promising approach to observing evidence for sterile neutrinos, which show up through oscillations with frequency associated with the fourth mass state. Following the arguments of Sec. 2.1, the optimal L/E to study the additional fourth mass state indicated by LSND is of order 1 m/MeV, while for atmospheric oscillations it is 1000 km/GeV and for solar 10,000 km/GeV. Since most neutrino beams are primarily E < 5 GeV, this implies an L < 5 km is required for studies of this 4th mass state, which is a much shorter baseline than is called for to study atmospheric and solar oscillations. If one designs the experiment with  $\mathcal{O}(1 \text{ m/MeV})$ , then the sensitivities to  $\Delta m_{solar}^2$  and  $\Delta m_{atmospheric}^2$  are small. One can make the approximation." Invoking this approximation, we usually call the LSND-related mass splitting  $\Delta m_{41}^2$ .

Disappearance of an active flavor to a sterile flavor at large  $\Delta m^2$  is direct evidence for these neutrinos. Active-to-active appearance oscillations with a frequency associated with the third  $\Delta m_{41}^2$  splitting is also possible. There are nine possible oscillations that can be observed with this oscillation frequency:  $P_{\nu_e \to \nu_e}$ ,  $P_{\nu_\mu \to \nu_\mu}$ ,  $P_{\nu_\tau \to \nu_\tau}$ ,  $P_{\nu_e \to \nu_\mu}$ ,  $P_{\nu_\mu \to \nu_\tau}$ . All of these processes must occur with the same oscillation frequency for the model to be consistent.

The probabilities for disappearance and appearance oscillations are given by:

$$P(\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\beta}) \simeq 4|U_{\alpha 4}|^2 |U_{\beta 4}|^2 \sin^2(1.27\Delta m_{41}^2 L/E) , \qquad (5)$$

and

$$P(\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\alpha}) \simeq 1 - 4(1 - |U_{\alpha 4}|^2)|U_{\alpha 4}|^2 \sin^2(1.27\Delta m_{41}^2 L/E) .$$
(6)

Here we have used  $\simeq$  for the relationships to explicitly note that we are employing the short baseline approximation and so have dropped the small terms depending on the atmospheric and solar  $\Delta m^2$  parameters. Throughout the remaining text, we will just call this an equality. From this, one can see that there are triplets of experiment-types, happening with the same oscillation frequency, that depend on pairs of the matrix elements–for example the set:

$$P_{\nu_e \to \nu_e} = 1 - 4(1 - |U_{e4}|^2)|U_{e4}|^2 \sin^2(1.27\Delta m_{41}^2 L/E) , \qquad (7)$$

$$P_{\nu_{\mu}\to\nu_{\mu}} = 1 - 4(1 - |U_{\mu4}|^2)|U_{\mu4}|^2 \sin^2(1.27\Delta m_{41}^2 L/E) , \qquad (8)$$

$$P_{\nu_{\mu} \to \nu_{e}} = 4|U_{e4}|^{2}|U_{\mu4}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{41}^{2}L/E).$$
(9)

A consistent theory model requires signals in all three of these oscillation modes. As we will see in Sec. 3, this is a serious problem for 3+1 models, at present.

The above equations are often written to mimic the form of Eq. 1, for example

$$P_{\nu_e \to \nu_e} = 1 - \sin^2 2\theta_{ee} \sin^2(1.27\Delta m_{41}^2 L/E), \qquad (10)$$

$$P_{\nu_{\mu} \to \nu_{\mu}} = 1 - \sin^2 2\theta_{\mu\mu} \sin^2(1.27\Delta m_{42}^2 L/E), \qquad (11)$$

$$P_{\nu_{\mu} \to \nu_{e}} = \sin^{2} 2\theta_{e\mu} \sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{41}^{2}L/E), \qquad (12)$$

where, comparing to Eqs. 7 to 9, results in the definitions:

$$\sin^2 2\theta_{ee} = 4(1 - |U_{e4}|^2)|U_{e4}|^2, \tag{13}$$

$$\sin^2 2\theta_{\mu\mu} = 4(1 - |U_{\mu4}|^2)|U_{\mu4}|^2, \qquad (14)$$

$$\sin^2 2\theta_{e\mu} = 4|U_{e4}|^2|U_{\mu4}|^2.$$
(15)

A similar triplet of equations exists for the other flavor pairings.

The U-matrix can be thought of as a rotation matrix. This leads to yet another notation that one finds in the literature. The following definitions of oscillation probabilities can arise from using the rotation angles:

$$P_{\nu_e \to \nu_e} \simeq 1 - \sin^2 (2\theta_{14}) \sin^2 (1.27 \Delta m_{41}^2 L/E),$$
 (16)

$$P_{\nu_{\mu} \to \nu_{\mu}} \simeq 1 - \sin^2 \left(2\theta_{24}\right) \sin^2(1.27\Delta m_{41}^2 L/E),$$
 (17)

$$P_{\nu_{\mu} \to \nu_{e}} \simeq \frac{1}{4} \sin^{2} (2\theta_{14}) \sin^{2} (2\theta_{24}) \sin^{2} (1.27\Delta m_{41}^{2} L/E).$$
(18)

and similar definitions follow for the other flavor pairs.

The above presents many definitions of the same probabilities. We discuss these because all of these definitions are used in the literature. One must take care not to confuse axes presenting mixing in one parameter space with another when comparing published results. Another common source of confusion is between plots presented in  $\sin^2 2\theta$  and  $\sin^2 \theta$ . The reader must always look carefully at the choice of axis representing the mixing.

Invoking CPT as a good symmetry places an important requirement on any given oscillation triplet. CPT states that  $P(\nu_{\alpha} \rightarrow \nu_{\beta}) = P(\bar{\nu}_{\beta} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{\alpha})$ . Consider the case where  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  are both electron flavor. Then  $P(\nu_e \rightarrow \nu_e) = P(\bar{\nu}_e \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_e)$ . Similarly for all flavors: the oscillation probability for neutrinos and antineutrinos must be the same. In this case,

- 1. *CPT* invariance requires that  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \to \bar{\nu}_{e}$  oscillations and  $\nu_{e} \to \nu_{\mu}$  oscillations must be identical.
- 2. The probability for  $\nu_e$  disappearance must be as large or larger than the probability for  $\nu_e \rightarrow \nu_{\mu}$  oscillations, since this represents only one oscillation channel.

3. *CPT* invariance requires that the probability of  $\bar{\nu}_e$  disappearance be the same as the probability for  $\nu_e$  disappearance, as argued above.

This then leads to constraints on the relation between appearance and disappearance measurements. For example, if the sensitive region of a  $\bar{\nu}_e$  disappearance experiment entirely covers the allowed parameter space associated with another experiments  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  appearance signal region, then either the disappearance experiment must see a signal or the two experiments are incompatible. This method of testing appearance signals will represent an interesting line of attack for studying sterile neutrino models, as discussed later.

Lastly, it is important to point out that if one invokes the short baseline approximation, then there will be no CP violation in the 3+1 model. CP violation would introduce a difference in the neutrino and antineutrino appearance probabilities in a given channel. CPviolating terms come about as an interference between two or more oscillation frequencies, hence two or more  $\Delta m^2$  values that are relatively close in magnitude are required for an effect to be observed. In a 3+1 model that makes use of the short baseline approximation, there is only one non-zero  $\Delta m^2$  and, thus, no CP violation in the model.

#### 2.5 3+2 and 3+3

While the minimal extension to a three neutrino model is to add a single sterile neutrino, in principle, one might expect three sterile neutrinos, reflecting the three-generation structure of the Standard Model. This is called a 3+3 model. In practice, however, experiments may only have sensitivity to two of the three new neutrinos, as we discuss in Sec. 4. In this case, we must fit to a 3+2 model.

A 3+2 model, which is a five mass-state model, assumes the short baseline approximation for the three lowest mass states, and two distinct mass splittings,  $\Delta m_{41}^2$  and  $\Delta m_{51}^2$ . Note that  $\Delta m_{54}^2 = \Delta m_{51}^2 - \Delta m_{41}^2$ . The corresponding 3+2 mixing matrix is an extension of Eq. 4 to a 5×5 matrix. To simply the appearance equation below, we will use notation where

$$|U_{\alpha i\beta j}| = |U_{\alpha i}|||U_{\beta j}|,\tag{19}$$

where i and j refer to the mass states, and

$$\Delta_{ij} = \Delta m_{ij}^2. \tag{20}$$

For a 3+2 oscillation model, the appearance probability is then given by

$$P_{\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\beta}}^{3+2} \simeq -4|U_{\alpha 5\beta 5}||U_{\alpha 4\beta 4}|\cos\phi_{54}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{54}L/E) +4(|U_{\alpha 4\beta 4}|+|U_{\alpha 5\beta 5}|\cos\phi_{54})|U_{\alpha 4\beta 4}|\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{41}L/E) +4(|U_{\alpha 4\beta 4}|\cos\phi_{54}+|U_{\alpha 5\beta 5}|)|U_{\alpha 5\beta 5}|\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{51}L/E) +2|U_{\beta 5\alpha 5}||U_{\beta 4\alpha 4}|\sin\phi_{54}\sin(2.53\Delta_{54}L/E) +2(|U_{\alpha 5\beta 5}|\sin\phi_{54})|U_{\alpha 4\beta 4}|\sin(2.53\Delta_{41}L/E) +2(-|U_{\alpha 4\beta 4}|\sin\phi_{54})|U_{\alpha 5\beta 5}|\sin(2.53\Delta_{51}L/E).$$
(21)

In this equation,  $\phi$  is a *CP* phase is given by

$$\phi_{54} = \arg(U_{e5}U_{\mu5}^*U_{e4}^*U_{\mu4}). \tag{22}$$

The terms which depend on  $\cos \phi_{54}$  are CP conserving since they do not change sign in going from neutrino to antineutrino oscillations, while those that depend on  $\sin \phi_{54}$  are CP violating. CP effects only arise in appearance experiments.

The 3+2 disappearance probability, which is simpler and so we will not use abbreviations, has no dependence on  $\phi_{54}$ :

$$P_{\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\alpha}}^{3+2} \simeq 1 - 4|U_{\alpha4}|^{2}|U_{\alpha5}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{54}^{2}L/E) -4(1 - |U_{\alpha4}|^{2} - |U_{\alpha5}|^{2})(|U_{\alpha4}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{41}^{2}L/E) +|U_{\alpha5}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{51}^{2}L/E)) .$$
(23)

In other words, disappearance experiments have no CP violating effects. Only appearance experiments can potentially demonstrate CP violation.

In the ~ 1 eV<sup>2</sup> region, short baseline experiments do not constrain  $|U_{\tau4}|$  because the neutrino energy required for the optimal L/E is well below the  $\tau$  production threshold of 3.48 GeV for the incident neutrino energy needed to produce a  $\tau$ -lepton. Therefore, the global fits to the short baseline data sets are constraining  $\Delta m_{41}^2$ ,  $|U_{e4}|$ ,  $|U_{\mu4}|$ ,  $\Delta m_{51}^2$ ,  $|U_{e5}|$ ,  $|U_{\mu5}|$ , and the CP parameter  $\phi_{54}$ .

The 3+2 model has introduced more flexibility into the global fits in two ways. The first is to introduce more parameters. The second is through allowing for CP violation, which makes the appearance oscillation probabilities for neutrinos and antineutrinos have different dependencies on the mixing matrix elements. In other words,  $P_{\nu_{\mu}\to\nu_{e}}$  can be different from  $P_{\bar{\nu}_{\mu}\to\bar{\nu}_{e}}$  even with the same mixing matrix.

One can take the next step, expanding to a 3+3 model, with a  $6\times 6$  mixing matrix. The appearance probability, expressed using the notation in Eqs. 19 and 20, is then given by:

$$\begin{aligned} P_{\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\beta}}^{3+3} &\simeq -4|U_{\alpha5\beta5}||U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\cos\phi_{54}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{54}L/E) \\ &-4|U_{\alpha6\beta6}||U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\cos\phi_{64}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{65}L/E) \\ &+4(|U_{\alpha4\beta4}|+|U_{\alpha5\beta5}|\cos\phi_{54}+|U_{\alpha6\beta6}|\cos\phi_{64})|U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{41}L/E) \\ &+4(|U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\cos\phi_{54}+|U_{\alpha5\beta5}|+|U_{\alpha6\beta6}|\cos\phi_{65})|U_{\alpha5\beta5}|\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{51}L/E) \\ &+4(|U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\cos\phi_{64}+|U_{\alpha5\beta5}|\cos\phi_{65}+|U_{\alpha6\beta6}|)|U_{\alpha6\beta6}|\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta_{61}L/E) \\ &+2|U_{\beta5\alpha5}||U_{\beta4\alpha4}|\sin\phi_{54}\sin(2.53\Delta_{54}L/E) \\ &+2|U_{\beta6\alpha6}||U_{\beta5\alpha5}|\sin\phi_{65}\sin(2.53\Delta_{65}L/E) \\ &+2(|U_{\alpha5\beta5}|\sin\phi_{54}+|U_{\alpha6\beta6}|\sin\phi_{64})|U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\sin(2.53\Delta_{41}L/E) \\ &+2(-|U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\sin\phi_{54}+|U_{\alpha6\beta6}|\sin\phi_{65})|U_{\alpha5\beta5}|\sin(2.53\Delta_{51}L/E) \\ &+2(-|U_{\alpha4\beta4}|\sin\phi_{64}-|U_{\alpha5\beta5}|\sin\phi_{65})|U_{\alpha6\beta6}|\sin(2.53\Delta_{61}L/E). \end{aligned}$$

The disappearance equation is much simpler, and so, without abbreviations is:

$$P_{\nu_{\alpha} \to \nu_{\alpha}}^{3+3} \simeq 1 - 4|U_{\alpha4}|^{2}|U_{\alpha5}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{54}^{2}L/E) -4|U_{\alpha4}|^{2}|U_{\alpha6}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{64}^{2}L/E) - 4|U_{\alpha5}|^{2}|U_{\alpha6}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{65}^{2}L/E) -4(1 - |U_{\alpha4}|^{2} - |U_{\alpha5}|^{2} - |U_{\alpha6}|^{2})(|U_{\alpha4}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{41}^{2}L/E) +|U_{\alpha5}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{51}^{2}) + |U_{\alpha6}|^{2}\sin^{2}(1.27\Delta m_{61}^{2}L/E)).$$
(25)

The important point here is that, again, CP phases are only in the appearance formula. With the introduction of another mass splitting, three CP violating phases arise:

$$\phi_{54} = \arg(U_{e5}U_{\mu5}^*U_{e4}^*U_{\mu4}) , \qquad (26)$$

$$\phi_{64} = \arg(U_{e6}U_{\mu 6}^*U_{e4}^*U_{\mu 4}) , \qquad (27)$$

and

$$\phi_{65} = \arg(U_{e6}U_{\mu 6}^*U_{e5}^*U_{\mu 5}) \ . \tag{28}$$

From these equations, one sees that the numbers of parameters in the appearance fits are three for 3+1 ( $|U_{\alpha4}|$ ,  $|U_{\beta4}|$  and  $\Delta m_{41}^2$ ), while the disappearance fits each have one less mixing matrix element to fit. For 3+2 the number of parameters goes up to seven for appearance, having added in  $|U_{\alpha5}|$ ,  $|U_{\beta5}|$ ,  $\Delta m_{51}^2$  and the *CP* violating parameter  $\phi_{54}$ . Again, for disappearance fits, there is only one mixing matrix connecting to the 5th mass state, and no *CP* violation. Lastly, for 3+3 appearance, the number of parameters rises to 12 for appearance, now including  $|U_{\alpha6}|$ ,  $|U_{\beta6}|$ ,  $\Delta m_{61}^2$ , and two additional *CP* violating parameters. Thus, as expected, adding sterile neutrino states does add parameters, potentially improving fits, but the number of additional parameters turns out to be relatively small compared to the number of data sets, and far less than the number of bins in the full fit.

The 3+3 model is arguably the most natural. However, it has a very large number of parameters, thus requiring more data sets to perform a useful fit. It should be noted that, in the case where  $\Delta m_{61}^2$  is very large, the typical L/E values for short baseline experiments are comparatively low so that the terms depending on this splitting will have rapid oscillations, which leads to a flat contribution. If the mixing angles are also small, then this offset will not have a strong affect on the fits and the system will reduce to an effective 3+2 model.

#### 2.6 Comparing experimental results in 3+1 models

Experimental searches for sterile neutrinos in either appearance or disappearance mode rely on comparing the measured event rate in some channel to a prediction including backgrounds and a possible sterile neutrino signal. It is difficult to compare these event rates directly since each experiment has differences in setups, efficiencies, resolutions, and backgrounds. Typically, experiments rely on simulations to do this comparison and then do fits to extract allowed regions or limits in terms of oscillation parameters. For a 3+1 model, these regions can be displayed for a given experiment as allowed or excluded regions in the  $\Delta m^2 vs. \sin^2 2\theta$ plane. The LSND results, discussed in Section 2.2, are an example of this procedure.

Experimental results presented in this  $\Delta m^2 vs. \sin^2 2\theta$  parameter space can be easily compared via the overlap of regions from the various experiments. This method has the advantage of incorporating all the information from the given experiments and putting the results on a common footing that can be rigorously compared. In particular, the distribution of "true" neutrino energies for any given "reconstructed" neutrino energy can be used to estimate the oscillation regions, and the systematic uncertainties and correlations associated with neutrino flux, backgrounds, and reconstruction at different energies can be correctly applied. Comparing experiments through this type of oscillation phenomenology is the only rigorous method to compare and combine experiments and is the basis of the global fits to multi-experiment results discussed in Section 4.

To provide an example, consider a comparison the results of the MiniBooNE experiment to LSND. MiniBooNE is a muon-to-electron flavor appearance experiment that we will describe in section 3, below. It was designed to follow up on the LSND anomaly, running in both neutrino and antineutrino mode. The L/E of MiniBooNE was selected to allow coverage of the LSND allowed region. MiniBooNE observed an anomalous excess consistent with oscillations in both running modes. Results from the MiniBooNE experiment [15] are shown in Fig. 4. The proper way to compare MiniBooNE to LSND is to overlay the two-neutrino oscillation allowed regions, as shown in this figure.

An alternative method to compare experiments [18] that has been used in the literature is to calculate the observed oscillation probability in L/E bins to exploit the expected dependence of Eq. 1. This is a poor choice, because, unfortunately, the true L and true Eof an event cannot be determined due to experimental energy resolution and the smearing associated with a finite length neutrino source and event position detection. So, a given L/Ebin has contributions from a range true L/E values. The measured oscillation probability also has uncertainties associated with the modeling of the backgrounds and predicted signal rate. These uncertainties will typically introduce correlations between the various measured data points.

All of the above effects are likely to be experiment-dependent and, thus, render the L/E method not a very robust comparison technique. In order to apply the L/E method to an actual experiment, one must, therefore, use a simulation as a tool to make corrections and assess measured values. Simulated data is binned in measured L/E and the predicted oscillation probability for a given set of oscillation model parameters is calculated. This procedure will be experiment-dependent and so an L/E plot can only be made for a single experiment and used to compare the measured data to various oscillation models. Two example L/E plots (from Ref. [23]) are given in Fig. 5 for LSND and in Fig. 6 for MiniBooNE  $\nu$  and  $\bar{\nu}$  results. Because of the bin-size compared to the accuracy of the experiment, the LSND experimental measurement of L/E does not need smearing corrections. However, it should be noted that the data points do have correlated uncertainties associated with the  $P_{osc}$  measurement. For MiniBooNE, the smearing effects are significant and the procedure outlined above needs to be used.

Lastly, care must be taken when comparing experiments that are measuring different, but related parameters. Consider, for example, the triplet of measurements shown in Eqs. 7 to 9, which are the set of  $\nu_e \rightarrow \nu_e$ ,  $\nu_\mu \rightarrow \nu_\mu$  and  $\nu_\mu \rightarrow \nu_e$ . In order to properly put all results from all three types of experiments onto the same plot, one has to globally fit all of the data to extract  $|U_{e4}|$  and  $|U_{\mu4}|$  at every  $\Delta m^2$ , and use the correct values at each point to project into a given plane, for example the  $\sin^2 2\theta_{e\mu}$  plane. This is rarely done in the literature. Most of the time, the best fit values from some global fit are used to project allowed regions and limits, leading to some distortion of the curves. It is important for readers to be aware of this and to consider such projected curves as qualitative rather than quantitative.



Figure 4: MiniBooNE [15] allowed regions in antineutrino mode (top) and neutrino mode (bottom) for events with  $E_{\nu}^{QE} > 200$  MeV within a two-neutrino oscillation model. Also shown are the ICARUS [16] and KARMEN [17] appearance limits for neutrinos and antineutrinos, respectively. The shaded areas show the 90% and 99% C.L. LSND  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  allowed regions.



Figure 5: The LSND measured oscillation probability as a function of the reconstructed L/E. Three theoretical curves without any energy or flight path smearing are also shown for models with  $\sin^2 2\theta / \Delta m^2 (eV^2) = 0.01/0.6, 0.004/1.0$ , and 0.002/2.0. (From Ref. [23].)

#### 2.7 Matter effects

Up to this point, we have only considered vacuum oscillations. This is appropriate for experiments where the neutrinos traverse short distances through matter of low density. This is true of nearly all experiments that are sensitive to oscillations in the  $\sim 1 \text{ eV}^2$  region. However there is an important recent exception: the  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance result from IceCube [19].

This analysis made use of a high-statistics sample of ultra-high-energy atmospheric neutrino interactions in the 0.4 to 20 TeV energy range. The path-length is related to the angle of the incoming neutrinos, and those which are upward-going through the earth were used. The energy and pathlength, given the size of the earth, results in  $L/E \sim 1$  m/MeV, which is the vacuum-oscillation parameter range-of-interest for observed short-baseline sterile neutrino anomalies [43]. However the resolution of the IceCube detector causes a vacuum-oscillation analysis to be insensitive. The strength of the IceCube result arises from a matter-effect signature in IceCube [21] that predicts a large deficit in the antineutrino flux for the up-going neutrinos that cross the Earth. The matter-magnified signal greatly enhances the IceCube sensitivity to a 3+1 models consistent with the observed short baseline anomalies.

To understand the source of the matter effects in sterile neutrino searches, let's first consider a known matter effect in the three neutrino model. If active neutrinos traverse an environment with a high density of electrons, then this environment introduces an additional potential to the Hamiltonian that modifies the  $\nu_e$  flavor component. The potential  $V_{CC}$  is proportional to the Fermi coupling constant  $G_f$  and the density of electrons  $n_e$ :

$$V_{CC} = \sqrt{2}G_f n_e. \tag{29}$$

This affects vacuum oscillations involving the  $\nu_e$  content of the propagating neutrino. Tran-



Figure 6: The MiniBooNE  $P_{osc}$  measurements as a function of L/E for neutrino and antineutrino mode running. The curves are the predicted  $P_{osc}$  versus L/E with energy and flight path smearing.(From Ref. [23])

sitions of neutrino flavors within the sun, which has a very high density of electrons, are known to be affected by this potential [20].

Analogously, in a four-neutrino model, as neutrinos pass through the denser regions of the earth, the propagation of the active flavor components that interact with matter will be affected while the sterile component will not. This introduces an additional potential into the Hamiltonian, leading to a modification of the oscillation probability [21]. The result, for a 3+1 model, is a substantial predicted deficit for  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\mu}$  in specific regions of energy and pathlength (angle) that is in the range of IceCube sensitivity.

## 3 Existing sterile neutrino signals, hints, and limits

There have been many searches for oscillations to sterile neutrinos. Table 1 lists a number of the experiments that currently have results based on searches for vacuum oscillations (*i.e.* experiments without matter effects). This table indicates the name of the experiment, search mode and whether the experiment has a closed contour at 95% CL, which we will call a "signal," or an open contour that includes the null, which we will call a "limit." Note that this is an arbitrary choice, and that KARMEN/LSND XSEC [31], MiniBooNE/SciBooNE  $\nu$  [35], and CDHS [33] have enclosed contours at 90% CL but not at 95% CL. None of the individual experimental results rise to the level of an "observation," which is generally defined as a  $5\sigma$  signal.

The earliest experiments were looking for oscillations among the three standard neutrinos in the  $\Delta m^2$  region above 1 eV<sup>2</sup>. This was motivated by three-neutrino dark matter models that were viable at the time, but are now disfavored by cosmology [22]. Subsequently, the

	Process	$\nu/\bar{\nu}$	App/Dis	Vac/Mat	Result
Electron Neutrino Appearance					
LSND [7]	$\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$	$\bar{\nu}$	App	Vac	Signal
MiniBooNE - $\nu$ [24, 25]	$\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$	ν	App	Vac	Signal
MiniBooNE - $\bar{\nu}$ [15, 26]	$\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \to \bar{\nu}_{e}$	$\bar{\nu}$	App	Vac	Signal
KARMEN [17]	$\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$	$\bar{\nu}$	App	Vac	Limit
ICARUS [16]	$\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$	ν	App	Vac	Limit
NOMAD [32]	$\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$	$\nu$	App	Vac	Limit
Electron Neutrino Disappearance					
Bugey and other reactors [27, 28]	$\bar{\nu}_e \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_e$	$\bar{\nu}$	Dis	Vac	Signal
Gallium Exps. (SAGE[29], GALLEX [30])	$\nu_e \rightarrow \nu_e$	ν	Dis	Vac	Signal
KARMEN/LSND XSEC [31]	$\nu_e \rightarrow \nu_e$	$\nu$	Dis	Vac	Limit
Muon Neutrino Disappearance					
$MiniBooNE/SciBooNE - \nu [35]$	$\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\mu}$	ν	Dis	Vac	Limit
$  MiniBooNE/SciBooNE - \bar{\nu} [8]  $	$\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$	$\bar{\nu}$	Dis	Vac	Limit
IceCube [38]	$\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{\mu}$	$\bar{\nu}$	Dis	Mat	Limit
CCFR [33]	$\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\mu}$	ν	Dis	Vac	Limit
CDHS [34]	$\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\mu}$	$\nu$	Dis	Vac	Limit
MINOS [36, 37]	$\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\mu}$	$\bar{\nu}$	Dis	Vac	Limit

Table 1: Oscillation experiments with sensitivity to sterile neutrino oscillations in the  $\Delta m^2$  region from 0.01 to 10 eV<sup>2</sup>. The experiments are identified as appearance (App) or disappearance (Dis). They are also identified as "Vac," for vacuum oscillations, as occur in short baseline experiments, and "Mat," for matter dependence, which is at present unique to Ice-Cube. The results of each experiment are categorized either as an observation of a "signal" if there is a closed contour at 95% CL, or a "limit" otherwise. See text for discussion.

results of these experiments, such as CDHS and CCFR [33], were used to set limits on  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance associated with possible oscillations to sterile neutrinos.

One of the first dedicated experiments searching for sterile neutrino oscillations was the LSND experiment at Los Alamos, which has been described previously in Section 2.2. Fig. 2 shows the  $3.8\sigma$  event excess of the data over the background, which fits well with the energy distribution expected for oscillations. Fitting this data to a 3+1 oscillation models yields the allowed region shown in Fig. 1. The LSND  $\nu_e$  appearance signal has prompted many follow-up experiments in all the possible channels including  $\nu_e$  appearance,  $\nu_e$  disappearance and  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance in the  $\Delta m^2$  region around 1 eV<sup>2</sup>.

As discussed previously, the MiniBooNE experiment was designed to test the LSND oscillation signal by searching for oscillations with a much different experimental setup but holding the L/E value close to the LSND value. For MiniBooNE, L/E averaged around (540 m/ 600 MeV) whereas for LSND the value averaged (35 m/ 40 MeV). MiniBooNE could run in both neutrino and antineutrino mode so could search for both  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$  and  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \bar{\nu}_{e}$  oscillations. The systematic uncertainties and backgrounds were also much different than LSND. MiniBooNE had higher relative backgrounds, but developed direct data techniques to constrain the impact on the oscillation analysis. Fig. 7 shows that the data compared to



Figure 7: The antineutrino mode (top) and neutrino mode (bottom)  $E_{\nu}^{QE}$  distributions for  $\nu_e$  CCQE data (points with statistical errors) and background (histogram with systematic errors). (From Ref. [15].)



Figure 8: The antineutrino mode (top) and neutrino mode (bottom) event excesses as a function of  $E_{\nu}^{QE}$ . (Error bars include both the statistical and systematic uncertainties.) Also shown are the expectations from the best two-neutrino fit for each mode and for two example sets of oscillation parameters (From Ref. [15].)

the expected background indicates a clear excess in both the  $\nu$  and  $\bar{\nu}$  channels. This excess is then displayed in Fig. 8 where the data minus the background is compared to several 3+1 oscillation models. Notice that when one background subtracts, one can end up with negative values for the oscillation excess—a point that often confuses even seasoned physicists.

The antineutrino excess agrees well with several of the oscillation models but the neutrino data has an excess at low energy above any of the models. This is often referred to as the MiniBooNE low-energy excess and is one of the problems with interpreting the measurements as indications of sterile neutrino oscillations with a simple 3+1 model. The low-energy region is also where the  $\gamma$ -ray backgrounds are largest from, for example, " $\pi^0$  misid" since the detector did not have the capability to separate electron from  $\gamma$  events. MiniBooNE used direct measurements from the neutrino data to constrain these backgrounds to much below the excess level as displayed by the error bars in Fig. 7, bottom. Nevertheless, the low-energy excess could be from some new type of neutrino process that produces single  $\gamma$  rays and future experiments should have the capability to separate  $\gamma$ s from electrons.

The KARMEN [17], ICARUS [16], and NOMAD [32] experiments also searched for  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$  appearance oscillations setting limits, but not with the sensitivity to fully exclude the



Figure 9: Allowed regions and upper bounds at 99% CL (2 dof) for muon to electron flavor appearance experiments in the 3+1 scheme. The red region corresponds to a combined fit of all  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$  appearance data sets, with the star indicating the best fit point. (From Ref. [39])

MiniBooNE and LSND signals. As a summary of the current situation, the allowed regions and limits for  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$  appearance from 3+1 model fits to the various data sets are shown in Fig. 9. The red region in the figure shows the allowed region for a combined fit indicating that there are 3+1 oscillation parameter sets that are compatible with all the appearance data.

In a 3+1 model,  $\nu_e$  appearance can only come about if both  $|U_{e4}|$  and  $|U_{\mu4}|$  are non-zero as shown in Eq. 9. Non-zero values for these elements implies that there must be both  $\nu_e$ disappearance and  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance, which leads also to consider the current results in those channels.

Two of the  $\nu_e$  disappearance searches have seen signals. One is a set of results from beams produced by reactors producing antineutrinos. The other comes from studies of very intense radioactive sources producing neutrinos.

The first result, referred to as the "Reactor Neutrino Anomaly" [27, 28], uses the measured rate of  $\bar{\nu}_e$  events detected from reactors as compared to prediction. When one convolutes the reactor spectrum with the inverse beta decay ( $\bar{\nu}_e + p \rightarrow e^+ + n$ ) cross section, one obtains events with neutrino energies between 1.8 MeV and about 8 MeV, with a peak at about 3 MeV. The absolute prediction of this flux is difficult to accomplish because of the complicated production mechanism of  $\bar{\nu}_e$ 's from the beta-decay of reactor fission fragments that must be modeled. Recently, several experiments have observed an unmodeled bump in the higher energy part of the spectrum indicating some problem with the reactor model [40]. For  $|\Delta m^2|$  values near 1 eV<sup>2</sup>, given the 3 MeV peak neutrino energy, the first oscillation



Figure 10: Short baseline reactor antineutrino anomaly. The experimental results are compared to the prediction without oscillations, taking into account the new antineutrino spectra, the corrections of the neutron mean lifetime, and the off-equilibrium effects. As an illustration, the red line shows a 3 active neutrino mixing solution and the blue line displays a solution including a new neutrino mass state, such as  $|\Delta m_4^2| \approx 1 \text{ eV}^2$  and  $\sin^2 2\theta = 0.12$ . (From Ref. [2])

maximum is near 3 m from the reactor. Experiments near to the reactors are called "short baseline reactor experiments." For L values > O(10) m, the probability should reach the fast-oscillation limiting value of  $Prob = \frac{1}{2} \times \sin^2 2\theta$ . Experiments in this distance range from the reactor, and extending up to about a kilometer or more, are called "long baseline." Previous reactor measurements with L values in the 10 m to 100 m range have measured ratios to prediction less than one that average to  $0.933 \pm 0.021$  as shown in Fig. 10. This difference from 1.0, the reactor anomaly, is a possible  $3.2\sigma$  indication of  $\bar{\nu}_e$  disappearance.

A second electron neutrino disappearance signal is associated with the measured rate of  $\nu_e$ 's produced by sources in the PBq (10<sup>15</sup> decays/second) range. These are extremely hot sources-for comparison, the potassium decays that naturally occur in the human body are at the kBq level. These sources were used in the "Gallium experiments," GALLEX [30] and SAGE [29], which were solar neutrino detectors. Again the measured rate is compared to a prediction and a deficit is found at the 2.9 $\sigma$  level with  $R_{obs}/R_{pred} = 0.84\pm0.05$ . This is referred to as the "Gallium Anomaly" since both detectors employ gallium in the detection medium. The combination of the Reactor and Gallium anomalies along with other  $\nu_e$  disappearance measurements leads to the allowed regions given in Fig. 11. This collection of  $\nu_e$  data are well fit by the 3+1 neutrino hypothesis, while the no-oscillation hypothesis is disfavored at 99.97% C.L (3.6  $\sigma$ ).

For  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance, the present situation is quite different. Currently there are no signals of sterile oscillations in this channel, using our 95% CL definition. Recall that in a 3+1 model, the disappearance and appearance oscillation channels are not independent and coupled through the  $|U_{e4}|$  and  $|U_{\mu4}|$  as shown in Eq. 9. These equations lead to the approximate relation between the effective mixing angles given by

$$\sin^2 2\theta_{\mu e} \approx \frac{1}{4} \sin^2 2\theta_{ee} \sin^2 2\theta_{\mu\mu} \,. \tag{30}$$

Thus the  $\nu_e$  disappearance and  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_e$  appearance signals described above lead to a prediction for  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance. If no disappearance is seen in that range, with high confidence



Figure 11: Allowed regions at 95% CL (2 dof) for 3+1 oscillations. Regions shown are shortbaseline reactor data (blue shaded), Gallium radioactive source data (orange shaded),  $\nu_e$ disappearance constraints from comparing  $\nu_e$ -C-12 scattering data from LSND and KAR-MEN, called LSND-KARMEN XSEC in Table 1.1 (dark red dashed), long-baseline reactor data (blue short-dashed), and data from solar neutrino experiments, including the KamLAND result which is sensitive to solar oscillations (black long-dashed). The red shaded region is the combined region from all of these  $\nu_e$  and  $\bar{\nu}_e$  disappearance limits. Note:  $|U_{e4}|^2 \approx \sin^2 2\theta_{ee}/4$ . (From Ref. [39])

level, then the model is excluded.

The  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance experiments are looking for a deficit in detected muon neutrino events as compared to the predicted number of events. The prediction is best done by using an experimental setup with two detectors, a near detector at short distance to measure the flux and a far detector to search for the deficit. Extrapolating from the near to far detector can bring in systematic uncertainties that depend on modeling the beam flux and divergence as well as detector differences but these uncertainties are typically at the few percent level. Fig. 12 shows the current limits for the various measurements. CCFR, CDHS, MINOS, and SciBooNE/MiniBooNE are all two detector measurements and the MiniBooNE only limit comes from a shape analysis of the observed events compared to expectation.

The tension between the appearance and disappearance data is displayed in Fig. 13 which shows the oscillation parameters associated with different data sets at the  $3\sigma$  CL. As given in Eq. 30 ( $\sin^2 2\theta_{\mu e} \approx \frac{1}{4} \sin^2 2\theta_{ee} \sin^2 2\theta_{\mu\mu}$ ), the independent  $\nu_{\mu}$  and  $\nu_e$  disappearance limits can be used to give a combined DIS limit on  $\sin^2 2\theta_{\mu e}$  for 3+1 models. One can see that the combined  $\nu_e$  allowed region (APP) is highly restricted by the DIS limits. One should keep in



Figure 12: The current exclusion limits from  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance searches in the 0.1 to 100 eV<sup>2</sup>  $\Delta m^2$  region with the mixing angle given by  $\sin^2 2\theta_{new}$ . All the exclusion limits are at 90% C.L. (From Ref. [41]).

mind that limits are not hard cutoffs, and there is lower probability signal extending outside of the defined  $3\sigma$  CL, where APP and DIS do overlap. A global fit of all data is also shown and indicates the small allowed region left from the APP allowed region.

The IceCube experiment has also done a search for  $\nu_{\mu}$  and  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  disappearance using the atmospheric muon neutrino spectrum as a function of zenith angle as described in Sec. 2.7. As a reminder, this experiment depends on the modification of the vacuum oscillations by matter effects. As shown in Fig. 14, these results greatly improve the limits from previous experiments for  $\Delta m^2 < 2 \text{ eV}^2$ . Note that this figure shows the LSND and MiniBooNE allowed regions, which are for appearance, on the disappearance plot. The appearance allowed regions were transferred to this plot using the best fit value for  $|U_{e4}|$  rather than a point-by-point calculation of  $|U_{e4}|$  in a global fit involving IceCube. As was pointed out in Sec. 2.6, this will lead to some distortion of the appearance allowed region. So the overlay should be regarded as qualitative, not quantitative. Nevertheless, this result only adds the the apparent tension between appearance and disappearance data sets.

In summary, the current sterile neutrino oscillation status has several signals in the  $\nu_e$  appearance channel, and also signals in the  $\nu_e$  disappearance channel, but no oscillation signal for  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance. A smoking gun for oscillations would be the observation of detected event rates that vary with the expected L/E behavior; currently, this behavior has not been convincingly observed in any of the experiments with  $\Delta m^2 \sim 1 \text{ eV}^2$  signals.



Figure 13: Allowed regions (at  $3\sigma$ ) in the  $\Delta m_{41}^2$  versus  $\sin^2 2\theta_{e\mu}$  plane from global fits of short-baseline appearance and disappearance oscillation data (3+1 GLO) compared with the allowed regions obtained from  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$  appearance-only data (APP) and the constraints obtained from  $\nu_{e}$  disappearance-only data ( $\nu_{e}$  DIS),  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance-only data ( $\nu_{\mu}$  DIS) and the combined disappearance data (DIS). The best-fit points of the GLO and APP fits are indicated by crosses. (Updated plot presented by C. Giunti at the Neutrino 2016 conference associated with Ref. [42].)

## 4 Global Data Fits

In order to determine the viability of sterile neutrino models, it is necessary to use a global fit. This needs to include as many of the relevant data sets as possible. It is best if these data sets are from considerably different experimental designs, as this reduces sensitivity to backgrounds that are under or oversubtracted and to other systematic uncertainties. A few experiments have recently adopted the practice of presenting their limit combined with one other experiment that will give the best reach. This turns out to be misleading and the results over-predict the final result of the global fit. This should be avoided.

In this section we discuss the techniques of global fits. An important aspect of the fit is the choice of test statistic. This turns out to be a complicated issue, which we must consider first. We then discuss implementation. Throughout, we then show results of global fits to the present data, however our emphasis is on the approach to the problem rather than these specific results, as these change rapidly with time.



Figure 14: Results from the IceCube  $\nu_{\mu}/\bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  disappearance search. The 90% (orange solid line) CL contour is shown with bands containing 68% (green) and 95% (yellow) of the 90% contours in simulated pseudo-experiments. Also, shown are the CDHS and SciBooNE/MiniBooNE limits along with the MiniBooNE/LSND 90% CL blue allowed region [39] assuming  $|U_{e4}|^2 = 0.023$ . (From Ref. [38]).

#### 4.1 Test Statistics for Global Fits

# 4.1.1 The problem with the $\chi^2$ statistic for fitting

The simplest test statistic for a fit is the  $\chi^2$  variable, which compares the data to the prediction including uncertainties. The distribution of this variable for Gaussian uncertainties should have a mean equal to the dof and standard deviation equal to  $\sqrt{2 \ dof}$ . However, this statistic can be very misleading because the global fits are keying in on deviations of the data from the prediction in rather localized data regions that are sensitive to oscillations. For the data space outside of these sensitive region, one can get a good fit to almost any oscillation model. If you add these insensitive bins into the  $\chi^2$ , then the power to discriminate models will be diluted and  $\chi^2/dof \to 1$ .

This problem is enhanced when one is fitting many data sets, which all may have insensitive bins in certain areas of parameter space that dilute the  $\chi^2$ . As a result, even though data sets may disagree, the  $\chi^2/dof$  from the global fit may be acceptable.

This is the case with the present global fits. In a 3+1 model, the  $\chi^2/dof = 359/315 \ dof =$  1.14 for all of the data. However, separate fits to the appearance and disappearance data sets listed on Table 1 sets show poor overlap as seen in Fig. 15. One ends up with a global



Figure 15: Left: global fit to the appearance data only; Right: global fit to the disappearance data only. Plot is from Ref. [43]

fit result with allowed regions because the strength of the combined  $\nu_e$  disappearance and  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_e$  appearance results overcomes the lack of signal in  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance. But the  $\chi^2/dof$  does not reflect the stress due to the large number of bins in all three cases where the best fit model predicts no signal.

One does not want to change the selected binning to focus on only the identified signal regions as one performs a fit. This would make a test statistic that could only be understood with extensive frequentist tests using a large set of experiment simulations that, at present, are computationally too expensive to perform. Also, the regions with no signal can add very important information to the fit and be used, for example, to constrain normalization uncertainties.

#### 4.1.2 The $\Delta \chi^2$ statistic for global fitting

A powerful method for doing global fitting to determine oscillation parameters and confidence regions is to use the  $\Delta \chi^2$  statistic, where

$$\Delta \chi^2 = \chi^2_{TestPoint} - \chi^2_{BestFit}.$$
(31)

The  $\Delta \chi^2$  statistic is related to the likelihood (L) ratio of the best fit with respect to some test point for Gaussian uncertainties with

$$\Delta \chi^2 = -2 \ln \left( L_{TestPoint} / L_{BestFit} \right). \tag{32}$$

The best fit for a given data set is found by minimizing the  $\chi^2$  for the data versus prediction. For the simplest problems,  $\Delta \chi^2$  will follow a  $\chi^2$  distribution with the *dof* value equal to the number of parameters being determined in the fit. To determine a CL region around the best fit, one uses the critical value for the  $\chi^2$  distribution with this given *dof*. For example with two fit parameters (say  $\Delta m^2$  and sin<sup>2</sup> 2 $\theta$ ), the critical value for 90% CL would be 4.61 and for a  $2\sigma$  CL would be 6.18. One then can find the  $\Delta m^2 vs$ . sin<sup>2</sup> 2 $\theta$  region where the  $\Delta \chi^2$  value for those points are below this critical value. This region then corresponds to the allowed



Figure 16: Example confidence level (CL) regions for a two-dimensional, normally-distributed data sample in the variables (x, y). The arrows show the variance of the data along the two covariance (or eigenvector) directions. The ellipses show the CL regions at 90%, 95%, and 99% that contain that fraction of the data points. (From Ref. [44])

region at the given CL. An example of CL regions for a toy model with two-dimensional, normally-distributed data is shown in Fig. 16.

Limits are a special case of confidence intervals where, for example, the no-oscillation (or "null") model is allowed by the data. On a  $\Delta m^2 vs. \sin^2 2\theta$  plot, a limit curve, at a given CL, separates the allowed region to left of the curve from the excluded region to the right of the curve. The curve corresponds to the points where  $\Delta \chi^2$  is equal to the critical value for the given CL. Thus, the points to the right of the curve have  $\Delta \chi^2$  values greater than the critical value and are, therefore, excluded at the given CL.

Other parameters that are not directly involved in the oscillation model (*a.k.a.* "nuisance" parameters) such as those that describe the normalization, backgrounds, etc. and their uncertainties, can be included in the fit using extra terms in the  $\chi^2$ , called "pull" terms. These nuisance parameters can be included (usually called being "profiled") in the fit by minimizing them at each test point. The fit value for the nuisance parameters can be of interest and comparisons of the values of these parameters with their expectations can give information on how much the fit determines they have been pulled from what is expected. This is commonly referred to as the "pull" for a parameter.

The  $\Delta \chi^2$  also solves the problem described in Sec. 4.1.1 where data bins outside of the sensitive region erroneously reduce the  $\chi^2/dof$ . For the  $\Delta \chi^2$  calculation, bins with no or very small sensitivity in the fit will contribute zero to the  $\Delta \chi^2$  value since the contribution from the test point and from the best fit will be identical and cancel.



Figure 17: Anscombe's quartet of data sets (From Ref. [46] and first published in Ref. [45]). This shows four data sets, that all fit to the same straight line. The data sets have the same mean and variance.

A problem with the  $\Delta \chi^2$  statistic is that the probability distribution may not follow a  $\chi^2$  distribution with a dof equal to the number of fit parameters. This can come about because the predicted event function is non-linear in the fit parameters or because the uncertainty in certain bins is hard to determine from first principles or is non-Gaussian. An example of this behavior is given by fits in the high  $\Delta m^2$  region, much above the value for the first oscillation maximum. In that region, the L/E behavior in the oscillation probability has rapid oscillation and effectively gives an average of 0.5 for the  $\sin^2(1.27\Delta m^2 L/E)$  factor. Therefore, in this region the oscillation probability has no dependence on  $\Delta m^2$  and the effective dof number will be 1.0 instead of 2.0. To quantitatively calculate the dof value as a function of test point parameters and, thus, the  $\Delta \chi^2$  critical values for a given CL, one needs to do simulation studies. At every test point, one uses a large set of fake, simulated experiments to determine the  $\Delta \chi^2$  distribution numerically from the distribution of simulated values. This is commonly referred to as the "Feldman-Cousins" frequentist method [6] for determining confidence regions.

#### 4.1.3 Anscombe's Quartet as a Cautionary Tale

In Sec. 3, we emphasized that there is tension between the appearance and disappearance data sets. As we will present below, the  $\Delta \chi^2$  test statistic will lead to apparently high-quality fits, despite this tension. It is reasonable to ask how this happens. The example of Anscombe's Quartet [45] provides an explanation of how this can come about.

Figure 17, reproduced from ref. [46], shows four example distributions. All four distributions are fit to lines, yielding slopes and intercepts that agree to three and two digits past the decimal, respectively. They also have the same mean, variance, total  $\chi^2$ , and correlation between x and y. The information from a fit to all data points does not indicate that these are substantially different distributions. However, the differences between these distributions becomes clear if you divide the data sets in certain ways and perform separate fits on each subset. In that case, the fits to the two separate subsets will not agree with each other, nor with the fit to all of the data points.

Having discovered a problem like this, the question then becomes: how do you quantify the probability of the split between two data sets resulting in the inconsistent? The problem is not simple–by selecting how you will cut the data set, you no longer have random samples. You have biased the information by choosing how to cut the data set to maximize the tension. A frequentist fake-data study will tell you how often you will see such a disagreement or worse disagreement. But such a study is prohibitive in the case of the short baseline global fits, given today's computing power.

This problem led to the introduction of the Parameter Goodness of Fit, which we describe below. It provides a useful approach to comparing data sets that you have split. However, we will show that this approach fails in certain circumstances. At this point, the meaning of the probability returned by the Parameter Goodness of Fit remains unclear.

#### 4.1.4 The Parameter Goodness of Fit

A possible problem with the  $\Delta \chi^2$  global fit method to determine confidence regions is that there can be large discrepancies between classes of data sets that go into the fit. This may lead to allowed regions deriving from the  $\Delta \chi^2$  prescription, even when no part of the parameter space can well-reproduce the data. An example of this behavior is shown in Fig. 15, where the fits to appearance and disappearance give much different allowed regions but taken together do have allowed regions at reasonable confidence levels. Of course, the global fits should include all the uncertainties in determining the allowed region. Nevertheless, one might also want to quantify how compatible are the different data sets that go into this determination.

In response to this question, the Parameter Goodness-of-fit (PG) test was established [47]. This test was meant to provide a compatibility test for two subsets of data in a given global fit, without bias that may come from irrelevant bins or data sets with many bins. Ref. [47] provides a formal, analytic derivation of this new test statistic, the  $\chi^2_{PG}$ , its degrees of freedom,  $N_{PG}$  and the cumulative probability function for this PG test statistic.

As an example of its application, consider the PG test for appearance  $(\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e})$  versus disappearance  $(\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{\mu} \text{ and } \nu_{e} \rightarrow \nu_{e})$  data sets that underlie a 3+1 global fit. One performs separate fits on each of the two underlying subsets, as well as a combined fit to the full data set, to obtain three  $\chi^{2}$  values,  $\chi^{2}_{app}$ ,  $\chi^{2}_{dis}$  and  $\chi^{2}_{alob}$ . One then forms an effective  $\chi^{2}$ :

$$\chi_{PG}^2 = \chi_{glob}^2 - (\chi_{app}^2 + \chi_{dis}^2).$$
(33)

In the case of good agreement between underlying data sets, the  $\chi^2$  contribution from nonsignal bins is highly reduced because of the subtraction in a similar way as the  $\Delta \chi^2$  statistic. The number of degrees of freedom is defined as

$$N_{PG} = (N_{app} + N_{dis}) - N_{glob} \tag{34}$$

where each N is the number of independent parameters involved in the given fit. In our 3+1 example, the appearance fit has two parameters  $(|U_{e4}||U_{\mu4}|)$  and  $\Delta m^2$ ), the disappearance fit has three parameters  $(|U_{e4}|, |U_{\mu4}|)$ , and  $\Delta m^2$ , and the global fit has three parameters

 $(|U_{e4}|, |U_{\mu4}|, \text{ and } \Delta m^2)$ . This then leads to the *dof* calculation for the PG test of  $N_{PG}^{3+1} = (2+3) - 3 = 2$  degrees of freedom. The probability that the two data sets are in agreement is that associated with  $\chi^2_{PG}$  for  $N_{PG}$ , or  $\chi^2_{PG}$  for 2 *dof* in the case of a 3+1 model.

The PG test has been shown to successfully assess the agreement between data sets with systematic uncertainties that are Gaussian-distributed across multiple runs of the experiment. However, in the case of an underlying systematic which is single-valued rather than Gaussiandistributed between runs of an experiment, the number of degrees of freedom is not necessarily  $N_{PG}$ . The deviation occurs when the shape of the systematic effect is correlated to the shape of the oscillation signal. In this case,  $\chi^2_{PG}$  for  $N_{PG}$  is not a valid estimate of the probability.

As a tangible example, imagine an appearance experiment which has both a 3+1 oscillation signal and a known background. To fit the data, the background must be subtracted. For simplicity, let's assume the background shape is perfectly known from the Standard Model, but the normalization has an error that comes from past measurements of the cross section. Our imaginary experimentalists will look up the central value for the background assigned by the Particle Data Group [3], and use this to subtract a background function with this normalization. The assumption is the data set now has zero background, after subtraction, but that there is an associated error that comes from the past measurements of the cross section. This error represents the experimentalist's best knowledge of the cross section, and it is presented and treated as a Gaussian-distributed systematic error. In reality, however, the true, natural value of the background is single valued. No matter how many times the experiment is run, this true value is always the same from run to run. Therefore, the experiment has an underlying residual background subtraction which is the same for every run and is not Gaussian-distributed.

To make our imaginary experiment more concrete, consider the following legitimate set of oscillation parameters for a 3+1 model:

- $\Delta m^2 = 0.75 \text{ eV}^2$ ,
- $|U_{e4}|^2 = 0.1$ , and
- $|U_{\mu4}|^2 = 0.1.$

Thus  $|U_{e4}||U_{\mu4}| = 0.1$ . These are used to generate the "true" oscillation signals that our imaginary experiment will see. We generate data for  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e}$  appearance,  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance and  $\nu_{e}$  disappearance in 16 energy bins in the range from 200 to 1000 MeV, assuming L = 500 m.

The problem occurs when the residual background for our imaginary experiment has the same shape as a legitimate oscillation signal, but one with different parameters than the model we describe above. As an example, we consider a background to the appearance signal that is an exponential residual background of the form  $N^{backgnd} = A_{true} \exp(-E/200.)$ , where E is the neutrino energy. We will study values of the normalization of the residual background,  $A_{true}$ , between 0.0 and 0.4.

(We leave it as an exercise for the student to explore this model with zero background and with a flat residual background as a function of neutrino energy of the form  $N_i^{backgnd} = A_{true} = constant$ . Note that the latter case is important because a 3+3 model with large  $\Delta m_{61}^2$  can lead to a flat overall offset. In these two cases, the student will find the PG test succeeds.) Our imaginary experimenters have assumed that this background has been correctly subtracted, thus  $A_{exp} = 0$ . The shape is known and so they fit for the normalization,  $A_{fit}$ . The experimenters places a systematic error on this assumption, which, for the purposes of this discussion, will be  $\sigma_{A_{exp}} = 0.15$ .

In order to generate the appearance data, the function describing the residual background is added to the function describing the oscillation signal, resulting in a function that describes the total  $\nu_e$ -like events. The same oscillation parameters and residual background function are used to generate each data set in a study.

The experimental data is then generated using statistical uncertainties about the functions for the appearance (with background) and disappearance predictions. This simulates statistical fluctuations but no other smearing effects are included. We will study the effect of the underlying background by running 1000 fake studies, each of which has an appearance, electron disappearance and muon disappearance experimental data set.

In each of the 1000 fake studies,  $A_{true}$  is held to the same value. Each data set is fit for the oscillation parameters with the appearance and global data set also simultaneously fit for the normalization of the residual background,  $A_{fit}$ , using a pull term. We define the  $\chi^2$ for each fit in the follow way:

$$\chi^{2}_{\nu_{e}app} = \sum_{i=1}^{16} \frac{\left(d^{\nu_{e}app}_{i} - \left(osc^{\nu_{e}app}_{i} + b^{\nu_{e}app}_{i}(A_{fit})\right)\right)^{2}}{\left(\sigma^{\nu_{e}app}_{i}\right)^{2}} + \frac{\left(A_{fit} - A_{exp}\right)^{2}}{\sigma^{2}_{A_{exp}}}$$
(35)

$$\chi^{2}_{disapp} = \sum_{i=1}^{16} \frac{\left(d^{\nu_{\mu}disapp}_{i} - osc^{\nu_{\mu}disapp}_{i}\right)^{2}}{\left(\sigma^{\nu_{\mu}disapp}_{i}\right)^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{16} \frac{\left(d^{\nu_{e}disapp}_{i} - osc^{\nu_{e}disapp}_{i}\right)^{2}}{\left(\sigma^{\nu_{e}disapp}_{i}\right)^{2}}$$

$$(36)$$

$$\chi_{global}^{2} = \sum_{i=1}^{16} \frac{\left(d_{i}^{\nu_{e}app} - \left(osc_{i}^{\nu_{e}app} + b_{i}^{\nu_{e}app}\left(A_{fit}\right)\right)\right)^{2}}{\left(\sigma_{i}^{\nu_{e}app}\right)^{2}} + \frac{\left(A_{fit} - A_{exp}\right)^{2}}{\sigma_{A_{exp}}^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{16} \frac{\left(d_{i}^{\nu_{\mu}disapp} - osc_{i}^{\nu_{\mu}disapp}\right)^{2}}{\left(\sigma_{i}^{\nu_{\mu}disapp}\right)^{2}} + \sum_{i=1}^{16} \frac{\left(d_{i}^{\nu_{e}disapp} - osc_{i}^{\nu_{e}disapp}\right)^{2}}{\left(\sigma_{i}^{\nu_{e}disapp}\right)^{2}}.$$
(37)

Figure 18 provides an example run for the case of a residual exponential background where  $A_{true} = 0.4$ . The top, middle and bottom frames, are, respectively, appearance, electron-flavor disappearance, and muon-flavor disappearance signals shown as a function of energy. The points show the generated data with statistical fluctuations. The true oscillation signal is shown in each frame in magenta. The green curve in the appearance data set (top frame) shows the underlying residual background for this run. The red curve on the appearance data set, shows the fit obtained from minimizing  $\chi^2_{\nu_eapp}$  (Eq. 35). The blue lines on all three data sets show the fits obtained by minimizing  $\chi^2_{global}$  (Eq. 37).

In this case of an exponential background, the shape of the oscillation signal and the background are correlated with a correlation parameter of  $\rho = 0.6$ . This correlation is reflected in the range of values that the parameters can take in any given run, as is illustrated in Fig. 19. These plots are for the case of A = 0.4, and the plots shown are for the appearance fit. One can see that the parameters are widely varying from the true value and they are highly correlated.

On the other hand, the global fit performs very well. The oscillation parameters that are returned are consistently in agreement with the input values. We find  $A_{fit} = 0.100 \pm 0.011, 0.0198 \pm 0.013, 0.297 \pm 0.016, 0.395 \pm 0.019$  for  $A_{true}=0.1, 0.2, 0.3$ , and 0.4, respectively.

In order to find the degrees of freedom, the  $\chi^2$  distributions of the data sets are fit to a standard  $\chi^2$  form

$$P_0(x^{(P_1/2)-1)}e^{-x/2}. (38)$$

where  $x = \chi^2$ ,  $P_0$  is a normalization and  $P_1$  is the number of degrees of freedom indicated by the  $\chi^2$  distribution.

As an example of the dof fits, the  $\chi^2$  distributions for 1000 experiments for the case of  $A_{true} = 0.4$  are shown in Fig. 20. One can see that in this case, the  $\chi^2_{PG}$  deviates far from the expectation of two even though there is not an incompatibility of data with a true oscillation model encompassing all three data sets. For  $A_{true}=0.1, 0.2, 0.3, \text{ and } 0.4$ , respectively, the degrees of freedom of the  $\chi^2_{PG}$  are found to be:  $1.92 \pm 0.062, 2.484 \pm 0.065, 3.361 \pm 0.074$  and  $4.408 \pm 0.081$ . The problem is arising because the high correlation between the background and the signal allows the fit to find a minimum  $\chi^2_{\nu_e app}$  whose distribution is close to the theoretical expectation, even though the fit parameters are far from the inputs. On the other



Figure 18: Example of signals versus energy for appearance (top), electron-flavor disappearance (middle) and muon flavor disappearance (bottom) from one experiment with an exponential residual background of  $A_{true} = 0.4$ . In all plots, the true signal is shown in magenta. In the top plot, the underlying background is shown in green. In all plots, the global fit result is shown in blue. In the top plot, the appearance-only fit, with the residual amplitude included as a pull term, is shown in red.

hand, the global fit parameters are constrained by the disappearance data contributions and so the minimum value of the  $\chi^2_{global}$  is relatively large. This leads to a  $\chi^2_{PG}$  distribution that is larger than the expectation for 2 dof. Since the  $\chi^2_{PG}$  values are larger than what is theoretically expected, the PG test will on average erroneously indicate that the appearance and disappearance data are incompatible. But, in reality, the only issue is that there is a background that mimics a possible oscillation signal.

## 4.2 Using Markov Chain Methods for Finding Global Fit Parameters

The process of finding the best fit in a global analysis comes under the umbrella of algorithms called "optimizers." The most efficient optimizers use a gradient to quickly find the minimum (or maximum) of a function. However, gradient descent is susceptible to being trapped in local minima, and "homes in" on the location of the minimum, without exploring the space around it. We are interested not just in the best fit, but also this surrounding region, which characterizes the level of confidence we have in our result.

Ideally, we would like a method of optimization that moves towards the minimum on average, but otherwise randomly explores the parameter space. The random walk would allow the method to "tunnel through" local minima to find other regions of the parameter space. Such a process can be modeled by a Markov Chain [50] that provides an efficient way



Figure 19: Parameter values for the appearance fit for an exponential background with  $A_{true} = 0.4$ . One can see strong correlations between the parameters, and the fit values deviate far from the true values.

to sample the likely regions of the parameter space.

A simple form of a Markov-chain-based fit proceeds as follows. At each step, a proposed set of parameters is selected that is a function of the previous parameters in the Markov chain, and the parameters are accepted based only on the set preceding it. The code makes use of a vector of independent parameters x. Each independent parameter is generated and varied according to a function that depends upon the previous step,  $x_{old}$ , in the minimization chain. As a simple example, one might use:

$$x = x_{old} + s(R - 0.5)(x_{min} - x_{max}) , \qquad (39)$$

where  $x_{min}$  and  $x_{max}$  represent the boundaries on the parameter x; R is a random number between 0 and 1, which is varied as one steps from  $x_{old}$  to x; and s is the "stepsize." The acceptance function for x can, for example, be formed as a Boltzmann distribution:

$$P = \min(1, e^{-(\chi^2 - \chi^2_{old})/T}) , \qquad (40)$$

where T is the Markov Chain parameter "temperature." The user-defined step-size and temperature control how quickly the Markov Chain diffuses toward the minimum  $\chi^2$  value. At every step along the chain, each of which corresponds to a point in the oscillation space described by the vector of independent parameters, a  $\chi^2$  is calculated appropriately for normally or Poisson distributed data. Following a specified number of steps, the minimum  $\chi^2$  is found from the list. Then,

$$\Delta \chi^2(\vec{x}) = \chi^2(\vec{x}) - \chi^2_{\min},\tag{41}$$

is calculated for each saved  $\chi^2$ . These  $\Delta \chi^2$  values are used to draw the confidence intervals in plots. All points that satisfy

$$\Delta \chi^2 < \mathrm{CDF}_{\chi^2}^{-1}(k, p), \tag{42}$$



Figure 20: The  $\chi^2$  distributions for an exponential background with  $A_{true} = 0.4$ . For each of the  $\chi^2$  types, the results of the dof fit are given with uncertainties along with the theoretical expectation. The histogram with error bars are the distribution of values and the dashed curve is the result of the dof fit. The number of degrees of freedom from the fit for the  $\chi^2_{PG}$  deviates significantly from the expected value of two.

are drawn inside the interval with probability p. The  $\text{CDF}_{\chi^2}^{-1}$  is the inverse  $\chi^2$  cumulative distribution function (CDF) and k is the number of degrees of freedom with k = 2 for a two-dimensional plot.

The simple Markov chain algorithm described above has been used in many of the early fits to short baseline data [10, 48, 49]. However, in the intervening years, much progress has been made in the field of Markov chain based optimizers. In particular, algorithms that make efficient use of parallel computing resources have been developed.

Often called Markov chain Monte-Carlo (MCMC) methods, these algorithms make probabilistic samples of the parameter space, allowing for Bayesian analysis. An example is to use fitting software with an affine invariant parallel tempering MCMC based on the Emcee fitting package [51]. Details of this approach are described in Ref. [43]. This approach runs many Markov chains in parallel, and each chain shares information about the parameters space with the other chains. Thus, the algorithms can make more efficient proposals, as it adapts to the shape of the  $\chi^2$  surface.

Drawing the confidence intervals from the  $\Delta \chi^2$  statistic, assumes that the statistic is correctly  $\chi^2$  distributed. As discussed above, this may not be true, and so the Feldman-Cousins technique [6] was introduced to allow for meaningful confidence intervals in these conditions. However, the method, which involves throwing many fake experiments for each parameter set in the fit, is far too computationally expensive to be practical to use in many



Figure 21: Left: Global fit to short baseline data, showing the frequentist confidence regions. Right: Global fit, showing Bayesian credible intervals Ref. [43].

global fits. Another way to avoid the issue is to use the log likelihood instead of the  $\chi^2$  statistic to determine the probability. This can be done using Bayesian credible intervals, which can be found using the MCMC, as is discussed in Ref. [43].

#### 4.3 Global Fit Results

This section summarizes the status of global fits that make use of the experiments discussed in Sec. 3. The discussion of specific solutions risks becoming dated quickly, and so here we will be brief and take a "big-picture" approach to the results.

When the data of Table 1 is combined into a global fit, one obtains the result shown in Fig. 21 (left). In this case, three allowed regions are present. These allowed regions are driving the present interest in sterile neutrino searches. The allowed regions appear at the overlap of the  $\nu_e$  disappearance and  $\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_e$  appearance signals. This contour is modified by those experiments with limits, especially the  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance limit from Sci-BooNE/MiniBooNE, which is what is giving the allowed regions the distinct "three island" shape. If one compares the allowed regions of in Fig. 21 (left) to the strongly varying oscillations of the SciBooNE/MiniBooNE result shown in Fig. 1 (right), one sees that the solutions lie between the strongly varying SciBooNE/MiniBooNE contours.

This analysis draws confidence intervals from the  $\Delta \chi^2$  statistic, assuming that this statistic is correctly described by a  $\chi^2$  distribution with dof equal to the number of fit parameters. In the previous section, we pointed out that this assumption may be incorrect for a number of reasons. A comparison to the result from Bayesian credible intervals, Fig. 21 (right), found using the MCMC method previously discussed and described in Ref. [43], shows that the results for the two global fits are very similar. Thus, this check indicates that the  $\Delta \chi^2$ distribution assumption must be relatively good.

Including the IceCube result is quite time consuming to include because of the need to repeatedly propagate the atmospheric flux through the matter profile of the earth, varying the fit parameters with each iteration. Thus, these data were included in the fit by first



Figure 22: Frequentist global fit including the IceCube data, from Ref. [52].

fitting the short baseline data sets, determining the parameter range of interest, and then addressing IceCube for only the viable models. Details of the method are described in Ref. [52]. The result of this approach leads to Fig. 22. The IceCube result substantially weakens the  $\sim 1 \text{ eV}^2$  allowed region. With this said, it should be noted that including IceCube data in the fits assumes the simplest 3+1 oscillation model with no additional Beyond-Standard-Model physics. Introducing new physics that would obscure or inhibit the sterile-neutrino related matter effects, would weaken the IceCube result. Thus, the IceCube data requires some assumptions beyond the simplest 3+1 model.

The results of the global fits, with and without IceCube, are summarized in Table 2 results. As per the discussion above, the interesting parameters to compare are the  $\chi^2$  for the global best fit point compared to the no oscillations ("null") value. One can see that the difference is on the order of 50 compared to the 3 or 4 value for the dof's. Thus the  $\Delta\chi^2$  method is indicating a strong preference for a fit that includes a sterile neutrino. Note that the difference in the null and best fit  $\chi^2$  for the IceCube only fit is small. This is the hallmark of the case where the best fit point is well outside of the region addressed by the data set. Although the IceCube result has not changed the best-fit point, it does guide future experiments to concentrate on regions that are generally have  $\Delta m^2 > 1 \text{ eV}^2$ .

At the time of writing, 3+2 and 3+3 fits have been performed for the short-baseline data sets only. Including IceCube in the fits is even more computationally time-consuming than for 3+1 due to the additional parameters. However, since the IceCube result did not strongly affect the best fit for 3+1, it is likely that it will also not strongly affect the 3+2 and 3+3results. It is found that the short-baseline-fit result for 3+2 is nearly the same as 3+1. The

3+1	$\Delta m_{41}^2$	$ U_{e4} $	$ U_{\mu4} $	$ U_{\tau 4} $	$N_{bins}$	$\chi^2_{ m min}$	$\chi^2_{ m null}$	$\Delta \chi^2 \ (\mathrm{dof})$
SBL	1.75	0.163	0.117	-	315	306.81	359.15	52.34(3)
SBL+IC	1.75	0.164	0.119	0.00	524	518.23	568.84	50.61(4)
IC	5.62	-	0.314	-	209	207.11	209.69	2.58(2)

Table 2: The oscillation parameter best-fit points for 3 + 1 for the combined short baseline (SBL) and IceCube (IC) data sets compared to SBL alone, as reported in Ref. [52]. Units of  $\Delta m^2$  are eV<sup>2</sup>.

3+2 fit has a  $\Delta \chi^2$ [null-min] (dof) of 56.99 (7). Thus adding additional parameters does not affect the conclusions. It is for this reason, and because the fits are quicker and simpler, that, at present, usually only 3+1 fits are discussed in conferences.

## 5 Future Experiments and Requirements

The field of sterile neutrino experiments is rapidly developing. Follow-up experiments that build on the techniques of the experiments listed in Table 1 are proliferating rapidly. Even more exciting, new and innovative technologies and techniques are being developed to explore electron flavor disappearance (see, for example, IsoDAR [53]), muon flavor disappearance (see, for example, KPIPE [54]), and muon-to-electron appearance experiments (see, for example, MicroBooNE [55]) are underway. A review of all of the planned experiments is beyond the scope of this chapter. Instead, for a review, we refer the reader to articles that are routinely appearing on the arXiv. Instead, here, we approach this discussion of future experiments from an educational point-of-view. From our summary of the existing results, above, one can identify requirements for future experiments to address the current anomalies and unexplored oscillation regions. We look at these requirements in detail below.

The current muon to electron flavor  $(\nu_{\mu} \rightarrow \nu_{e})$  appearance signals are the strongest indications for oscillations in the  $\Delta m^2$  around 1 eV<sup>2</sup> region. However, as discussed above, there are tensions between MiniBooNE neutrino data and antineutrino results from MiniBooNE and LSND. Thus, it is essential that the MiniBooNE neutrino result be checked with improved and higher statistics measurements. Here, a new technology, liquid argon time projection detectors (LArTPCs) [56] have the promise of large data samples with improved background rejection and measurement resolution. These systems are large volumes of liquid argon with two subdetectors: a time projection chamber (TPC) for tracking, and a light collection system. The MicroBooNE experiment, described in Ref. [55], is an example. LArTPCs have the capability to discriminate electron showers from background  $\gamma$  showers using the dE/dxat the start of the shower. This type of experiment can, therefore, address the potential of a background contamination in the MiniBooNE signal that might arise from electron/ $\gamma$ confusion in a Cherenkov detector. MicroBooNE has just begun an experimental run at Fermilab, on the same beamline and near in location to MiniBooNE. In the future, Micro-BooNE is to be combined with a near LATTPC detector (SBND) and a large far LATTPC detector (ICARUS) to form the Short Baseline Neutrino (SBN)[57] program at Fermilab. This program is being designed to have good sensitivity in the regions associated with the



Figure 23: The L/E dependence of sample data sets for 5 years of running for 3+1 (left) and 3+2 (right) oscillation scenarios. The solid curve is the oscillation probability with no smearing in the reconstructed position and energy and the data points with error bars are from simulated events including smearing.

current signals by comparing the rates of appearance in the three detectors. This comparison will help constrain systematic uncertainties. The comparison also will have some ability to map out the expected oscillatory behavior of sterile oscillations, in that it will measure the observed neutrino rate versus energy at three points.

Improved searches for electron neutrino disappearance are also a prime area for improved experiments. Several radioactive source experiments are being considered using existing large detectors [58]. But the problem with these experiments is that the very hot radioactive sources are short-lived, and so the experiment can only run for a modest period of time. As a result, the sensitivity is typically at the level to only just cover the "reactor anomaly" region. Many new very short baseline reactor oscillation experiments [59] are also being planned with some prototypes underway. These experiments need to have setups within 10 m from the reactor core and so have to contend with high background rates from neutrons and gammas, that can have confusing position dependence, as well as the large source size of the reactor core, which smears the signal. The reactor flux is also a combination of many decays. It is possible that some decay sources are isolated to specific regions of the reactor, because of the arrangement of fuel. The IsoDAR experiment [53] avoids many of these issues by creating higher energy (8 MeV) electron antineutrinos from <sup>8</sup>Li beta decay. This has the advantages of a very intense radioactive source experiments, but can run for long periods because this is a "driven source." By this we mean that the <sup>8</sup>Li is constantly produced from <sup>7</sup>Li using a 60 MeV, 10 mA proton beam from a cyclotron that the collaboration is developing. This <sup>8</sup>Li source provides an isotropic source of antineutrinos that would be placed near a large scintillator neutrino detector such as KamLAND or JUNO [60]. For these setups, oscillation signals would be detected by observing the oscillatory behavior within the detector, thus, minimizing systematic uncertainties and providing a definitive signal of oscillations. The oscillatory pattern even has the capability to separate 3+1 from 3+2 oscillation models, as is shown in Fig. 23.

In general, ability to reconstruct the oscillation wave in detail, as is shown in Fig. 23, should be a goal for future neutrino experiments. As discussed above, the actual sterile neutrino model that describes neutrino oscillations may be much more complicated than the 3+1 world-view. However, all of these models will predict oscillation waves. Thus, patterns like these are the "smoking gun" for neutrino oscillations involving sterile neutrinos.

For muon neutrino disappearance, new experiments must improve on the past experi-

ments with better statistics and reduced systematic uncertainties. Improved results from IceCube are expected with somewhat better sensitivity to high  $\Delta m^2$  and mixing angle. The multi-detector SBN program also has good sensitivity to muon neutrino disappearance by comparing the detected rate versus energy in the three detectors and can make measurements with both  $\nu_{\mu}$  and  $\bar{\nu}_{\mu}$  beam settings. However, the KPIPE experiment [54] is, at present, the one example of a  $\nu_{\mu}$  disappearance experiment that can observe and use the oscillatory behavior of oscillations to detect a disappearance signal. The neutrino source is from the decay of stopped kaons produced in the J-PARC MLF spallation target, which produces monoenergetic 236 MeV muon neutrinos. Note that a mono-energetic neutrino source that has high enough energy to produce charge-current  $\nu_{\mu}$  interactions is unique among experiments. In this case, the L/E dependence reduced to just L dependence, since E is a constant. A 120 m long by 3 m diameter cylindrical liquid-scintillator detector is proposed to be used to detect the neutrino rate as a function of distance. Like IsoDAR, this allows for a search for the oscillatory behavior of the signal, with coverage beyond the other proposed experiments.

These examples give you a taste of the interesting new ideas that are now under discussion. Exploring the possibility that light sterile neutrinos exist is one of the current major goals of particle physics. If sterile neutrinos are established, this will be revolutionary for the field. Previous measurements are a possible guide, particularly when considered within the context of global fits, and have led to an extensive list of new experiments and programs. These experiments are in the small to mid-scale range and, thus, are real possibilities to be supported and initiated over the next decade. That makes this a great time to be interested in the physics of this thriving field of sterile neutrino searches.

# Acknowledgements

The authors thank the members of their research groups for discussion, and especially thank Carlos Argüelles, Leslie Camilleri, Gabriel Collin, J. I. Crespo-Anadón, Alejandro Diaz, Ben J.P. Jones, Boris Kayser, Blake Watson and Lauren Yates for their suggestions on the text. JMC is supported by NSF grant 1505855 and 1505858. MHS is supported by NSF grant 1404209.

# References

- [1] https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Standard\_Model\_(mathematical\_formulation), See Section 4.3 on "Neutrino Masses".
- [2] K. N. Abazajian *et al.*, arXiv:1204.5379 [hep-ph].
- [3] K.A. Olive *et al.* (Particle Data Group), Chin. Phys. C, 38, 090001 (2014), and 2015 update.
- [4] D. Dutta, R. Gandhi, B. Kayser, M. Masud and S. Prakash, "Capabilities of long-baseline experiments in the presence of a sterile neutrino," arXiv:1607.02152 [hep-ph].
- [5] M. L. Warren, M. Meixner, G. Mathews, J. Hidaka and T. Kajino, "Sterile neutrino oscillations in core-collapse supernovae," Phys. Rev. D 90, no. 10, 103007 (2014) doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.90.103007 [arXiv:1405.6101 [astro-ph.HE]].
- [6] G. J. Feldman and R. D. Cousins, Phys. Rev. D 57, 3873 (1998) [physics/9711021 [physics.data-an]].
- [7] A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.* [LSND Collaboration], "Evidence for neutrino oscillations from the observation of anti-neutrino(electron) appearance in a anti-neutrino(muon) beam," Phys. Rev. D 64, 112007 (2001) [hep-ex/0104049].
- [8] G. Cheng *et al.* [MiniBooNE and SciBooNE Collaborations], "Dual baseline search for muon antineutrino disappearance at  $0.1 \text{eV}^2 < \Delta m^2 < 100 \text{eV}^2$ ," Phys. Rev. D 86, 052009 (2012) [arXiv:1208.0322].
- [9] M. C. Gonzalez-Garcia, M. Maltoni and T. Schwetz, "Updated fit to three neutrino mixing: status of leptonic CP violation," JHEP 1411, 052 (2014) doi:10.1007/JHEP11(2014)052 [arXiv:1409.5439 [hep-ph]].
- M. Sorel, J. M. Conrad and M. Shaevitz, "A Combined analysis of short baseline neutrino experiments in the (3+1) and (3+2) sterile neutrino oscillation hypotheses," Phys. Rev. D 70, 073004 (2004) doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.70.073004 [hep-ph/0305255].
- [11] A. G. Riess *et al.*, Astrophys. J. **826**, no. 1, 56 (2016) [arXiv:1604.01424 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [12] J. A. Formaggio and J. Barrett, Phys. Lett. B **706**, 68 (2011) [arXiv:1105.1326 [nucl-ex]].
- [13] S. Mertens *et al.*, JCAP **1502**, no. 02, 020 (2015) [arXiv:1409.0920 [physics.ins-det]].
- [14] M. Drewes *et al.*, "A White Paper on keV Sterile Neutrino Dark Matter," [arXiv:1602.04816 [hep-ph]].
- [15] A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.*, Phys. Rev. Lett. 110, 161801 (2013).
- [16] M. Antonello *et al.*, Eur. Phys. J. C73, 2599 (2013).
- [17] B. Armbruster *et al.*, Phys. Rev. D 65, 112001 (2002).

- [18] A. A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. [MiniBooNE Collaboration], "Using L/E Oscillation Probability Distributions," arXiv:1407.3304 [hep-ex].
- [19] M. G. Aartsen *et al.* [IceCube Collaboration], "Searches for Sterile Neutrinos with the IceCube Detector," Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**, no. 7, 071801 (2016) doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.117.071801 [arXiv:1605.01990 [hep-ex]].
- [20] A. Y. Smirnov, "The MSW effect and solar neutrinos," hep-ph/0305106.
- [21] A. Esmaili and A. Y. Smirnov, "Restricting the LSND and MiniBooNE sterile neutrinos with the IceCube atmospheric neutrino data," JHEP 1312, 014 (2013) doi:10.1007/JHEP12(2013)014 [arXiv:1307.6824 [hep-ph]].
- [22] C. Y. Cardall and G. M. Fuller, "Three generation neutrino mixing and LSND dark matter neutrinos," Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 51B, 259 (1996) doi:10.1016/S0920-5632(96)00510-5 [astro-ph/9606024].
- [23] A. A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.* [MiniBooNE Collaboration], arXiv:1407.3304 [hep-ex].
- [24] A. A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.* [MiniBooNE Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **102**, 101802 (2009) [arXiv:0812.2243 [hep-ex]].
- [25] A. A. Aguilar-Arevalo et al. [MiniBooNE Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 231801 (2007) [arXiv:0704.1500 [hep-ex]].
- [26] A. A. Aguilar-Arevalo *et al.* [MiniBooNE Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **105**, 181801 (2010) doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.181801 [arXiv:1007.1150 [hep-ex]].
- [27] G. Mention, M. Fechner, T. Lasserre, T. A. Mueller, D. Lhuillier, M. Cribier and A. Letourneau, Phys. Rev. D 83, 073006 (2011) [arXiv:1101.2755 [hep-ex]].
- [28] Y. Declais, J. Favier, A. Metref, H. Pessard, B. Achkar, et al., Nucl. Phys. B434, 503 (1995).
- [29] J. N. Abdurashitov et al. [SAGE Collaboration], Phys. Rev. C 80, 015807 (2009) [arXiv:0901.2200 [nucl-ex]].
- [30] F. Kaether, W. Hampel, G. Heusser, J. Kiko and T. Kirsten, Phys. Lett. B 685, 47 (2010) [arXiv:1001.2731 [hep-ex]].
- [31] J. M. Conrad and M. H. Shaevitz, Phys. Rev. D 85, 013017 (2012) [arXiv:1106.5552 [hep-ex]].
- [32] P. Astier *et al.* [NOMAD Collaboration], Phys. Lett. B **570**, 19 (2003) [hep-ex/0306037].
- [33] I. E. Stockdale *et al.*, Z. Phys. C **27**, 53 (1985).
- [34] F. Dydak *et al.*, Phys. Lett. B **134**, 281 (1984).
- [35] K. B. M. Mahn et al. [SciBooNE and MiniBooNE Collaborations], Phys. Rev. D 85, 032007 (2012) [arXiv:1106.5685 [hep-ex]].

- [36] P. Adamson *et al.* [MINOS Collaboration], Submitted to: Phys.Rev.Lett. [arXiv:1607.01176 [hep-ex]].
- [37] P. Adamson *et al.* [MINOS Collaboration], Phys. Rev. D 77, 072002 (2008) [arXiv:0711.0769 [hep-ex]].
- [38] M. G. Aartsen *et al.* [IceCube Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**, no. 7, 071801 (2016) [arXiv:1605.01990 [hep-ex]].
- [39] J. Kopp, P. A. N. Machado, M. Maltoni and T. Schwetz, JHEP 1305, 050 (2013) [arXiv:1303.3011 [hep-ph]].
- [40] P. Huber, "Reactor antineutrino fluxes Status and challenges," Nucl. Phys. B 908, 268 (2016) doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysb.2016.04.012 [arXiv:1602.01499 [hep-ph]].
- [41] A. Anokhina *et al.*, arXiv:1503.07471 [hep-ph].
- [42] S. Gariazzo, C. Giunti, M. Laveder, Y. F. Li and E. M. Zavanin, J. Phys. G 43, 033001 (2016) [arXiv:1507.08204 [hep-ph]].
- [43] G. H. Collin, C. A. Argüelles, J. M. Conrad and M. H. Shaevitz, Nucl. Phys. B 908, 354 (2016) [arXiv:1602.00671 [hep-ph]].
- [44] Vincent Spruyt (Sentiance UK LTD), http://www.visiondummy.com/2014/04/
- [45] F.J. Anscombe, "Graphs in Statistical Analysis". American Statistician. 27 (1): 17, 1973.
- [46] https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Anscombe%27s\_quartet
- [47] M. Maltoni and T. Schwetz, Phys. Rev. D 68, 033020 (2003) [hep-ph/0304176].
- [48] G. Karagiorgi, A. Aguilar-Arevalo, J. M. Conrad, M. H. Shaevitz, K. Whisnant, M. Sorel and V. Barger, "Leptonic CP violation studies at MiniBooNE in the (3+2) sterile neutrino oscillation hypothesis," Phys. Rev. D 75, 013011 (2007) Erratum: [Phys. Rev. D 80, 099902 (2009)]
- [49] J. M. Conrad, C. M. Ignarra, G. Karagiorgi, M. H. Shaevitz and J. Spitz, "Sterile Neutrino Fits to Short Baseline Neutrino Oscillation Measurements," Adv. High Energy Phys. 2013, 163897 (2013) doi:10.1155/2013/163897 [arXiv:1207.4765 [hep-ex]].
- [50] Norris, James R., "Markov chains," Cambridge University Press, 1998. See sections downloadable at: http://www.statslab.cam.ac.uk/~james/Markov/.
- [51] D. Foreman-Mackey, D. W. Hogg, D. Lang, and J. Goodman, Publications of the Astronomical Society of the Pacific 125, 306 (2013), arXiv: 1202.3665.
- [52] G. H. Collin, C. A. Argüelles, J. M. Conrad and M. H. Shaevitz, "First Constraints on the Complete Neutrino Mixing Matrix with a Sterile Neutrino," arXiv:1607.00011 [hep-ph].

- [53] M. Abs et al., "IsoDAR@KamLAND: A Conceptual Design Report for the Technical Facility," arXiv:1511.05130 [physics.acc-ph]; A. Bungau et al., "Proposal for an Electron Antineutrino Disappearance Search Using High-Rate <sup>8</sup>Li Production and Decay," Phys. Rev. Lett. **109**, 141802 (2012) [arXiv:1205.4419 [hep-ex]].
- [54] S. Axani, G. Collin, J. Conrad, M. Shaevitz, J. Spitz and T. Wongjirad, "Decisive disappearance search at high Δm<sup>2</sup> with monoenergetic muon neutrinos," Phys. Rev. D 92, no. 9, 092010 (2015) doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.92.092010 [arXiv:1506.05811 [physics.ins-det]].
- [55] T. Miceli (for the MicroBooNE collaboration), "Exploring Neutrino Interactions with MicroBooNE," arXiv:1411.4572 [physics.ins-det].
- [56] A. Marchionni, "Status and New Ideas Regarding Liquid Argon Detectors," Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 63, 269 (2013) doi:10.1146/annurev.nucl.012809.104445 [arXiv:1307.6918 [physics.ins-det]].
- [57] M. Antonello *et al.* [MicroBooNE and LAr1-ND and ICARUS-WA104 Collaborations], "A Proposal for a Three Detector Short-Baseline Neutrino Oscillation Program in the Fermilab Booster Neutrino Beam," arXiv:1503.01520 [physics.ins-det].
- [58] T. Lasserre, "Testing the Reactor and Gallium Anomalies with Intense (Anti)Neutrino Emitters," Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 235-236, 214 (2013) doi:10.1016/j.nuclphysbps.2013.04.013 [arXiv:1209.5090 [physics.ins-det]].
- [59] D. Lhuillier, "Future short-baseline sterile neutrino searches with reactors", AIP Conference Proceedings 1666, 180003 (2015); http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4915600
- [60] J. M. Conrad and M. H. Shaevitz, "Electron Antineutrino Disappearance at KamLAND and JUNO as Decisive Tests of the Short Baseline  $\overline{\nu}_{\mu} \rightarrow \overline{\nu}_{e}$  Appearance Anomaly," Phys. Rev. D 89, no. 5, 057301 (2014) doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.89.057301 [arXiv:1310.3857 [hep-ex]].